
 

 
 

Jackie Yates 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
Civic Offices, Bridge Street, 
Reading RG1 2LU 
 0118 937 3787 
 

 

 
CIVIC OFFICES EMERGENCY EVACUATION: If an alarm sounds, leave by the nearest fire exit quickly and calmly 
and assemble on the corner of Bridge Street and Fobney Street.  You will be advised when it is safe to re-enter 
the building. 

www.reading.gov.uk | www.facebook.com/ReadingCouncil | www.twitter.com/ReadingCouncil 

Ly 
To: Councillor Brock (Chair) 
Councillors Page, Barnett-Ward, Emberson, 
Ennis, Hoskin, Leng, McElroy, McEwan, 
Mitchell, Robinson, Rowland, Terry, 
Thompson and White 

  
Direct:  0118 9372303 
 
21 October 2022 

 
Your contact is: Simon Hill - Committee Services (simon.hill@reading.gov.uk) 
 
NOTICE OF MEETING - POLICY COMMITTEE 31 OCTOBER 2022 
 
A meeting of the Policy Committee will be held on Monday, 31 October 2022 at 6.30 pm in the 
Council Chamber, Civic Offices, Reading, RG1 2LU. The Agenda for the meeting is set out 
below. 
 
  
1. CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

  
 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

  
 
3. MINUTES 
 

 5 - 14 
 
4. PETITIONS AND QUESTIONS 
 

  

 To receive any petitions from the public and any questions 
from the public and Councillors.  
 

  

 
5. DECISION BOOKS 
 

  
 
6. CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION TO REMOVE 

PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS THAT WOULD RESULT 
IN RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

 

BOROUGH
WIDE 

15 - 98 

 This report recommends confirmation of an Article 4 
direction that would remove certain permitted development 
rights that would result in new residential dwellings across 
the town centre, district and local centres, core 
employment areas and a number of other commercial areas. 
 

  

 
7. DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION STRATEGY - DELIVERY UPDATE 
 

BOROUGH
WIDE 

99 - 112 



  
This report provides an update on work to realise the 
Connected Reading Digital Transformation Strategy and 
seeks endorsement of the next steps planned. 
 

  

 



 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
Please note that this meeting may be filmed for live and/or subsequent broadcast via the Council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
filmed. You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act. 
Data collected during a webcast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy. 
 
Members of the public seated in the public gallery will not ordinarily be filmed by the automated 
camera system. However, please be aware that by moving forward of the pillar, or in the unlikely 
event of a technical malfunction or other unforeseen circumstances, your image may be captured.  
Therefore, by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
 
Members of the public who participate in the meeting will be able to speak at an on-camera or off-
camera microphone, according to their preference. 

Please speak to a member of staff if you have any queries or concerns. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 21 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
 

 
1 
 

 
Present: Councillor Brock (Chair); 

 
 Councillors Page (Vice-Chair), Barnett-Ward, Emberson, Ennis, 

Hoskin, Leng, McEwan, Mitchell, Robinson, Rowland, Thompson 
and White 
 

Apologies: Councillors McElroy and Terry 
 

 
21. MINUTES  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2022 were agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chair. 
 
22. QUESTIONS  
 
Questions on the following matters were submitted by members of the public: 
 

 Questioner Subject Reply 
 

1. J Wellum GLL – Targeted work in the community Cllr Barnett-Ward 
2. J Wellum GLL – Community Benefit Cllr Barnett-Ward 
3. J Wellum GLL – Financing Cllr Barnett-Ward 

 
Questions on the following matters were submitted by Councillors: 
 

 Questioner Subject Reply 
 

1. Cllr White When will Palmer Park swimming pool open? Cllr Barnett-Ward 
2. Cllr White Cleaning Graffiti Tags On Phone Cabinets Cllr Rowland 
3. Cllr White Providing Warm Spaces This Winter Cllr Brock 

 
(The full text of the questions and responses was made available on the Reading Borough 
Council website). 
 
23. CONTRACTS FOR GRANT FUNDED 'MOVE-ON HOMES' WITH 24/7 INTENSIVE 

SUPPORT FOR THOSE ROUGH SLEEPING / AT RISK OF ROUGH SLEEPING  
 
The Executive Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a 
report seeking authority to procure and enter new contract arrangements from 1 April 
2023 for the provision of support for 50 units of ‘Move-On Homes’ at The Nova Project 
and 57 Caversham Road to relieve and prevent rough sleeping in Reading.  An Equality 
Impact Assessment was attached to the report at Appendix A.  The value of grant funding 
for the schemes contained exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A (as amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and had been provided 
separately to members of the Committee. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 21 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
 

 

 
2 
 

The report noted that the contracts would be funded utilising Rough Sleeping 
Accommodation Programme (RSAP) grant funding from the Department for Levelling Up, 
Communities and Housing (DLUHC).  Under DLUHC’s RSAP Round 1 Reading had been 
awarded three years revenue funding to deliver 50 units of “Move-on Homes” between 
2021 and 2024. These units provided an off the streets offer to those rough sleeping, or 
those who were at risk of rough sleeping having previously and repeatedly been verified. 
The units had a specific focus on supporting with mental ill-health, substance misuse and 
preventing re-offending and returns to the streets.  Support to ten “Move-on Homes” at 
The Nova Project for females with complex needs requiring a 24/7 supportive 
environment had been delivered under contract with St Mungo’s since 21 December 2020. 
40 units of “Move-on Homes” at 57 Caversham Road had been completed in November 
2021 and all clients had moved into their self-contained studio with 24/7 on-site staffing 
presence by January 2022, with support to clients also delivered by St Mungo’s. 
 
The report explained both projects were specifically commissioned to enable a longer 
period of support with mental ill-health, substance misuse and re-offending than 
traditional supported accommodation models and that clients could be accommodated 
for up to 2-3 years before moving on.  Multi-agency work to progress move-on from these 
units was ongoing with outreach and in-reach support provided by the NHS and Public 
Health, who commissioned a Health Outreach Liaison Team and Multiple Disadvantage 
Outreach Team respectively.  These specialist services provided wrap-around health and 
substance misuse support, aiming to transition clients into core/mainstream support 
services and independent living. 
 
The report summarised the history of contract arrangements for both sites, which would 
expire on 31 March 2023, and proposed that an open tender exercise be undertaken and a 
12-month contract awarded from 1 April 2023 for a 24/7 staffed environment of 
accommodation with support at the 50 units of “Move-on Homes” across The Nova Project 
and 57 Caversham Road.  There was no option to include a contract extension at this 
stage as the conditions under which RSAP were bid for, and awarded, were for grant to 
be spent by March 2024. 
 
Resolved –  
 

(1) That the award of funding from the Rough Sleeping Accommodation 
Programme (RSAP) 2021-24 to deliver 50 units of “Move-on Homes” in 
2023/24 comprising 10 units at The Nova Project and 40 units at 57 
Caversham Road be noted; 

 
(2) That the Assistant Director of Housing and Communities, in consultation 

with the Lead Councillor for Housing, Director of Finance and Director of 
Procurement and Commissioning be authorised to: 
 
(a) undertake the necessary procurement exercise to adhere to RSAP 

2021-24 grant funding conditions and  
 

Page 6



POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 21 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
 

 

 
3 
 

(b) enter into a contract with the successful tenderer in respect of 
services to deliver the “Move-on Homes schemes referred to in (1) 
above, for 12 months from 1 April 2023. 

 
 
24. SPEND AND FUNDING APPROVAL FOR IMPROVEMENTS TO LEISURE FACILITIES  
 
The Executive Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a 
report setting out proposals to make improvements to South Reading Leisure Centre’s 
Pool Tank and install a waymarked paving route for vision impaired users from 
Wokingham Road to the new swimming pool at Palmer Park Sports Stadium.  The report 
also sought authority to agree and sign a Sport England Strategic Facilities Funding 
agreement, subject to agreeable terms and conditions, of £1.5m towards the costs of the 
new leisure facilities at Rivermead and Palmer Park. 
 
The report explained that the concrete and reinforcing within the South Reading Leisure 
Centre pool tank structure was corroding and sought spend approval for £295,000 to make 
repairs to extend the life of the swimming pool. The repair of this structure was the 
responsibility of the Council as set out within the Leisure Contract with Greenwich 
Leisure Limited.  Spend approval was also sought for £36,000 to provide a waymarked 
pedestrian route for vision impaired users from the bus stop on Wokingham Road to the 
new swimming pool at Palmer Park Sports Stadium.  Both schemes would be funded from 
the Small Leisure Schemes in the capital programme. 
 
The report explained that throughout the procurement, planning and build process of 
new leisure facilities the Council had been working closely with Sport England, and had 
been invited to submit an expression of interest to their Strategic Facilities Investment 
Fund in 2021.  A bid for £1m for Rivermead and £500k for Palmer Park had been 
successful and approval was sought to enter into the funding agreements. 
 
Resolved – 
 

(1) That spend approval be given of £295,000 for the repair to the structure 
of the South Reading Leisure Centre Pool Tank and £36,000 to install a 
waymarked paving route for vision impaired users from Wokingham Road 
to the new swimming pool at Palmer Park Sports Stadium, funded from 
the Small Leisure Schemes in the capital programme; 

  
(2) That the Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood 

Services, in consultation with the Director of Finance and the Lead 
Councillor for Leisure and Culture be authorised to procure and enter 
contracts for the works to the vision impaired paving route (£36,000) 
from Wokingham Road to the new swimming pool at Palmer Park Sports 
Stadium, funded from the Small Leisure Schemes in the capital 
programme; 

 
(3) That the Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood 

Services, in consultation with the Director of Finance, the Assistant 

Page 7



POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 21 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
 

 

 
4 
 

Director for Legal and Democratic Services and the Lead Councillor for 
Leisure and Culture, be authorised to enter into Sport England funding 
agreements for Rivermead (£1m) and Palmer Park (£500k) in line with 
Standing Orders, subject to acceptable terms and conditions. 

 
25. READING LIBRARIES IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME: WITHDRAWAL OF LIBRARY 

FINES  
 
The Executive Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a 
report on a proposal to remove library fines for overdue items and other fees. 
 
The report noted that when library services had been made fully digital during the first 
Covid lockdown in spring 2020 fines had been, by necessity, suspended. Whilst in-person 
library services had now resumed, the fine suspension had been retained to encourage 
use and support people returning to the library. Fines previously had been levied per item 
per day, and in the last full year of charging had raised £22,000. The absence of income 
from fines had been covered by increased income elsewhere in the library service. 
 
The report explained that the proposal to remove fines for late return of books was 
intended to remove a barrier to people accessing the library, given that there was 
evidence that library use was lowest in areas of multiple deprivation.  It would enable 
more people to benefit from the opportunities arising from library use without any fear of 
future financial penalties from late return, as well as encourage a return to the service 
for those who felt they could not use library services as they owed money.  For the same 
reason it was proposed to remove reservation fees to make all stock freely available to 
all. 
 
The report stated that the proposal was a part of the Council’s response to the current 
cost of living crisis and would relieve a financial pressure on residents without impacting 
on the Council’s budget.  The library service had in recent years concentrated on letting 
space and the provision of services such as a visa verification service to provide a 
diversified income base.  These services offered good returns and were complementary to 
the core provision.  The success of this diversification meant that total income recorded 
now ran at levels around 150% higher than five years ago, despite a reduction in income 
from fines and charges. 
 
Resolved –  
 

(1) That the work undertaken to improve the income position of the Reading 
library service, increasing the library service’s income to its highest ever 
level, be noted; 

 
(2) That the proposal to remove library fines for overdue items and other 

fees, in line with other local authorities where fines for late return of 
items on library users had been removed to encourage greater library 
use, be approved; 

 

Page 8



POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 21 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
 

 

 
5 
 

(3) That it be noted that the changes were a measure of support for 
residents in a time of a cost of living crisis, which had no overall impact 
on Council financial position, and would also support marketing, 
developing and increasing use of the service. 

 
26. BUILDING SERVICES MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL CONTRACT AWARD  
 
The Executive Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a 
report seeking approval to procure, award and enter into several new mechanical and 
electrical (M&E) contracts for planned preventative maintenance and reactive repairs for 
water treatment (legionella), lift servicing and maintenance, and maintenance of the 
Trend Building Monitoring System.   
 
The report noted that these contracts were critical for the Council and necessary to 
maintain statutory compliance and to ensure that services such as heating, lifts, water 
systems and automated equipment were kept safe, functional and running at maximum 
efficiency.  Services supplied by these various contracts were of a specialist nature for 
which the Council did not directly employ appropriately trained staff and it was custom 
and practise for organisations the size of local authorities to purchase them via specialist 
contractors or through a multi-disciplined Facilities Management contractor.  It was 
therefore proposed to go to market and procure a contract offering best value for each 
work area via the Westworks Dynamic Purchasing System.  Each contract would be for a 
term of five years. 
 
Resolved – 
 

That the Executive Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services, 
in consultation with the Lead Councillor for Planning and Assets, the Director of 
Finance and Assistant Director of Legal & Democratic Services, be authorised to 
procure, award and enter into the M&E Contracts for planned preventative 
maintenance and reactive repairs, through the Westworks Dynamic Purchasing 
System and be given approval to delegate any subsequent contract extension or 
variation in line with the contract terms for: 
 
(i) Water Treatment (legionella) for the period 1 November 2022 to 31 

October 2027; 
(ii) Lift Servicing and Maintenance for the period 1 November 2022 to 31 

October 2027; and 
(iii) Maintenance of the Trend Building Monitoring System for the period 1 

November 2022 to 31 October 2027. 
 
27. ADULT SOCIAL CARE REFORM - MEETING THE FAIR COST OF CARE AND MARKET 

SUSTAINABILITY FUND REQUIREMENTS FOR READING  
 
The Executive Director of Social Care and Health submitted a report outlining the 
requirements of the Fair Cost of Care and Market Sustainability Fund and providing an 
overview of the actions to date alongside the planned next steps including submission of 
a Draft Market Sustainability Plan to the Department of Health & Social Care. 

Page 9



POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 21 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
 

 

 
6 
 

 
The report noted that the government had committed to a national programme of Adult 
Social Care reforms which would significantly impact on the ‘cost’ of Adult Social Care. 
The ‘Fair Cost of Care’ element of the reforms required local authorities to undertake a 
collaborative exercise with Adult Social Care Providers of Home Care (for people aged 
over 18) and Providers of Nursing and Residential services (for people aged over 65) to 
determine a ‘Fair Cost of Care’ and to develop a 3-year Market Sustainability Plan. 
  
The report explained that the current care market was such that people who funded their 
own care often needed to pay much higher rates for their care than people whose care 
was commissioned by local authorities.  This had long been considered unfair and the 
government was keen to create a system whereby comparable rates were paid for care, 
no matter whether the care was funded by the local authority or directly by the person 
receiving care.  As a consequence of the government’s social care reforms therefore, any 
care provider currently charging a higher rate to self-funders and/or using self-funder 
income for the same service to subsidise the true cost of care, might be at financial risk 
as this was unlikely to be a viable business model.   
 
The report explained that the government had made available a three-year Fair Cost of 
Care and Market Sustainability Fund - “the Fund” - to support local authorities in ensuring 
the ongoing sustainability of their local care markets.  A sum of £384k (of which 25% 
could be spent on implementation) had been made available to the Council this financial 
year, with future allocations to be confirmed, noting that current projections suggested 
that the cost of achieving the fair cost of care was likely to exceed the total amount of 
funding allocated to Reading. 
 
This report outlined the requirements of the Fund, which included a fair cost of care 
exercise, and a market sustainability plan, and provided an overview of the actions to 
date alongside the planned next steps notably a requirement to publish a ‘Fair Cost of 
Care’ on the Council’s website and submit a Draft Market Sustainability Plan to the 
Department of Health & Social Care (DHSC) by 14 October 2022.  Failure to submit the 
requirements of the Fund might mean that a local authority would not have access to 
future Fund resource. 
 
Resolved – 
 

(1) That the requirements of the Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care 
Fund 2022/23 and the actions of officers to date to meet the 
requirements of the Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund in 
its first year (2022/23) be noted; 

 
(2) That the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health, in 

consultation with the Director of Finance and the Lead Councillor for 
Adult Social Care, be authorised to approve the submission of both the 
cost of care exercise and the provisional Market Sustainability Plan to the 
Department of Health & Social Care by 14 October 2022, and to publish 
the cost of care exercise outcome on the Council’s website; 

 

Page 10



POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 21 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
 

 

 
7 
 

(3) That it be noted that the final Market Sustainability Plan outlining how 
the Market Sustainability & Fair Cost of Care Funds would be spent in 
Reading would be submitted and published in February 2023, after local 
government budgets had been finalised. 

 
28. DACHS - BERKSHIRE COMMUNITY EQUIPMENT SERVICE JOINT PROCUREMENT  
 
The Executive Director of Social Care and Health submitted a report seeking approval to 
join the Berkshire Community Equipment Service (BCES) Partnership commissioning 
process to commission a new service for provision of equipment and technological 
products to support people to live as independently as possible at home.   
 
The report noted that the current contract was held between Nottingham Rehabilitation 
Service Healthcare (now known as Healthcare Pro) and the lead authority (West Berkshire 
Council) who acted on behalf of the BCES Partnership made up of all six Berkshire Unitary 
Authorities and the NHS Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated 
Care Board, and NHS Frimley Integrated Care Board.  The current 5-year contract had 
commenced on 1 April 2017 and been extended for a further two years to 31 March 2024 
with no further contract extension available.   
 
The report proposed that the Council join the Berkshire Community Equipment Service 
(BCES) Partnership commissioning process to commission a new service in line with the 
end of the current contract.  It was proposed that the partnership enter into a new 
contract for an initial term of five years from 1 April 2024 with the ability to extend for 
another two years. 
 
The report noted that the Berkshire Community Equipment service had been provided for 
over seven years and was well embedded in professional practice across Berkshire in both 
health and social care partners.  The service and the provision of equipment played a 
significant role in keeping people safe and provided assurance to carers thus enabling 
independent living in people’s own homes and reducing the impact on other more costly 
care services such as hospital admission, care home or domiciliary care provision. 
 
Resolved – 
 

(1) That the Council enter into a joint procurement, led by West Berkshire 
for the provision of a County wide Community Equipment service on 
behalf of the Berkshire Community Equipment Partnership to go live on 1 
April 2024, with a maximum total cost to the Council of £6.486m for a 
maximum term of 7 years (5 years with the option to extend for up to 2 
years); 

 
(2) That the Executive Director of Social Care and Health, in consultation 

with the Lead Councillor for Adult Social Care, Director of Finance and 
Assistant Director of Legal & Democratic Services, be authorised to enter 
into a contract with West Berkshire Council for the provision of 
Equipment services post Procurement. 

 

Page 11



POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 21 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
 

 

 
8 
 

29. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY AND PROCEDURE  
 
The Executive Director of Resources submitted a report setting out at Appendix 1 the 
updated Risk Management Policy and Procedure for approval.  
 
The report summarised the changes to the Policy which had been updated to reflect best 
practice and to incorporate a formal Risk Management Procedure.  Under the revised 
Policy the Council would be operating a more comprehensive risk management system, 
which will provide more robust governance and hence increased reassurance, and the 
report set out how this would be achieved.  The revised Policy and Procedure had been 
endorsed by the Audit & Governance Committee at its meeting on 19 July 2022 (Minute 6 
refers) for onward submission to Policy Committee. 
 
Resolved –  
 
 That the updated Risk Management Policy and Procedure attached at Appendix 

1 be approved. 
 
30. 2022/23 QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE AND MONITORING REPORT  
 
This report sets out the projected revenue and capital outturn positions for 2022/23 for 
both the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Accounts as at the end of Quarter 1 
(June 2022), as well as the performance against the measures of success published in the 
Council’s Corporate Plan.  The following documents were attached to the report:  

 
• Appendix 1 – Financial Monitoring for Quarter 1 
• Appendix 2 – Capital Programme for Quarter 1 
• Appendix 3 – Corporate Plan Measures for Quarter 1 
• Appendix 4 – Corporate Plan Projects for Quarter 1 
• Appendix 5 - Debt Write-Offs (exempt information) 

 
The report noted that the forecast General Fund (GF) revenue outturn position at the end 
of Quarter 1 included a projected adverse net variance on service expenditure of 
£4.058m. This variance was offset by a projected £4.616m positive net variance on 
Corporate budgets, of which £3.627m related to the unallocated Corporate Contingency, 
resulting in a projected overall positive net variance of £0.558m.  The forecast adverse 
variance on services included net pressures totalling £0.564m within Adult Care and 
Health Services relating to care cost pressures; £1.669m within Economic Growth and 
Neighbourhood Services, primarily relating to ongoing income shortfalls in Car Parking 
and Planning as an ongoing impact of Covid-19; £1.761m within Brighter Futures for 
Children (BFfC), relating to pay, inflation and demand pressures; and a total £0.064m 
across Resources and Chief Executive Services relating to income pressures.  Detailed 
explanations for these variances were set out in the report.   
 
The report explained that the service budget pressures were offset by positive net 
variances within Corporate Budgets, specifically £1.713m on Capital Financing Costs as a 
result of the 2021/22 Capital Programme outturn position and £3.627m on Corporate 
Contingencies.  Other Corporate Budgets were forecasting an adverse net variance of 

Page 12



POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 21 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
 

 

 
9 
 

£0.724m.  This was primarily due to a current forecast pressure of £0.934m relating to 
the 2022/23 pay award.  A pay award of 2% was assumed as part of 2022/23 budget 
setting with additional contingency retained corporately to fund a pay award up to 4%.  
The pay offer made in July 2022 was estimated to cost an additional £1.434m above the 
amount budgeted (including the contingency) across the Council and BFfC. BFfC had 
included a forecast pressure of £0.500m in their forecast which was prior to the pay 
award offer announced in July, therefore the difference of £0.934m was included within 
the Corporate forecast. 

 
The report stated that £1.570m (15%) of budgeted savings had been delivered to date in 
this financial year, with a further £5.415m (53%) of savings on track to be delivered by 
March 2023. £2.061m (20%) of savings were currently categorised as non-deliverable (red) 
and £1.178m (12%) categorised as at risk of delivery. There was therefore a potential 
impact on the 2023/24 budget should these savings not be deliverable on a recurring 
basis.  These savings would be reviewed as part of the  2023/24 budget setting and 
2023/24-2025/26 Medium Term Financial Strategy processes. 

 
The report also explained that the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) was projecting a 
positive net variance of £2.505m as at the end of Quarter 1, which resulted in a forecast 
contribution to HRA reserves of £0.422m.  The General Fund Capital Programme was 
forecast to spend to budget against a revised budget of £115.980m in 2022/23, and the 
HRA Capital Programme was forecast to spend to budget against a revised budget of 
£30.502m 2022/23.  The report sought approval for the revisions to the General Fund and 
HRA capital programmes and spend approval for a number of schemes. 
 
Resolved – 
 

(1) That it be noted that: 
 

(a) The forecast General Fund revenue outturn position as at the end 
of Quarter 1 was a positive net variance of £0.558m; 

(b) The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) was projecting a positive net 
variance of £2.505m as at the end of Quarter 1, which resulted in 
a forecast contribution to HRA reserves of £0.422m; 

(c) £1.570m (15%) of savings had been delivered (blue) to date in this 
financial year, with a further £5.415m (53%) of savings on track to 
be delivered (green) by March 2022; £2.061m (20%) of savings 
were currently categorised as non-deliverable (red) and £1.178m 
(12%) categorised as at risk of delivery (amber); 

(d) There was a total £4.065m Delivery Fund available for 2022/23 
(inclusive of 2021/22 approved carry forwards), at Quarter 1, 
£2.051m of this funding had been allocated out to approved 
schemes; 

(e) The General Fund Capital Programme was forecast to spend to 
budget against a revised budget of £115.980m; 

(f) The HRA Capital Programme was forecast to spend to budget 
against a revised budget of £30.502m;  

Page 13



POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 21 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
 

 

 
10 

 

(g) The performance achieved against the Corporate Plan success 
measures was set out in the report and Appendices 3 and 4;  

 
(2) That the write-off of debts as set out in Section 8 and Appendix 5 

relating to Non-Domestic Rates (£58,562.68) and Housing Benefit 
Overpayments (£25,944.98) be approved; 

 
(3) That the amendments to the General Fund Capital Programme (as set out 

in further detail in Section 12 of the report and Appendix 2), resulting in 
a revised budget of £124.480m, be approved: 

 
(3) That the amendments to the HRA Capital Programme (as set out in 

further detail in Section 12 of the report and Appendix 2), resulting in a 
revised budget of £30.502m, be approved; 

 
(4) That spend approval be given for the following Capital Programme 

Schemes totalling £3.650m: 1 Dunsfold fit out for family contact centre, 
Katesgrove Community & YOS Refurbishment, Town Hall Equipment, 
Berkshire Record Office, Digitised TROs, Replacement Vehicles, Bennet 
Road EV Chargers, Hexagon Lighting and Prospect Park. 

 
 
 
(The meeting started at 6.30 pm and closed at 7.54 pm) 
 
 

Page 14



READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC GROWTH AND NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

 
TO: POLICY COMMITTEE 

  
DATE: 31 OCTOBER 2022 

 
  

TITLE: CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION TO REMOVE 
PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS THAT WOULD RESULT IN 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

COUNCILLOR LENG PORTFOLIO: PLANNING AND 
ASSETS 

SERVICE: PLANNING 
 

WARDS: ALL EXCEPT 
CAVERSHAM HEIGHTS 

LEAD OFFICER: MARK 
WORRINGHAM 
 

TEL: 0118 9373337 

JOB TITLE: PLANNING POLICY 
MANAGER 
 

E-MAIL: mark.worringham@re
ading.gov.uk  

  
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Permitted development rights are rights that have been granted in legislation 

to undertake certain developments without the need to apply for planning 
permission.  The Local Planning Authority has the powers to make a direction 
removing specified permitted development rights within a defined area, 
known as an Article 4 direction. 
 

1.2 The Council made an Article 4 direction on 10 November 2021, as agreed by 
Policy Committee on 23 September 2021 (Minute 35 refers), that would 
remove certain permitted development rights that would result in new 
residential dwellings across the town centre, district and local centres, core 
employment areas and a number of other commercial areas.  Subject to the 
Council confirming the direction, it would come into force on 15 November 
2022.  This report recommends confirming the direction. 
 

1.3 Appendices: 
 Appendix 1: Equality Impact Assessment 
 Appendix 2: Summary of representations received and proposed response 

Appendix 3: Made Article 4 direction 
Appendix 4: Climate Impact Assessment Tool 

 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 That Committee agrees the responses to the representations to the 

consultation on the Article 4 Direction, set out in Appendix 2; and 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6

mailto:mark.worringham@reading.gov.uk
mailto:mark.worringham@reading.gov.uk


2.2 That Committee agrees to confirm the non-immediate Article 4 Direction 
made on 10 November 2021 covering the area shown in Appendix 3 to 
remove the following permitted development rights within Schedule 2 of 
the General Permitted Development Order 2015 (as amended):  

- Part 3 class MA; 

- Part 3 class M; 

- Part 3 class N; 

- Part 20 class ZA; 

- Part 20 class AA; 

- Part 20 class AB. 

 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
 Permitted development rights 
3.1 There are a number of forms of development which benefit from ‘permitted 

development rights’ (PDR) under the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (known as the GPDO) and 
therefore do not require planning permission.  These are set out in Schedule 
2 of the GPDO.  The range of types of PDR are wide, but include minor 
alterations to houses, some telecommunications development and some 
development by statutory undertakers and the Crown.  

 
3.2 The use of PDR has been expanded significantly in recent years to include a 

number of routes to deliver new homes, such as conversions from various 
commercial uses to residential, as well as rights allowing upward extension 
or demolition and rebuild of residential and commercial buildings to provide 
new dwellings. 

 
3.3 The following PDR currently exist that would allow the creation of new 

dwellings, subject to a light-touch prior approval process.  References are to 
Schedule 2 of the GPDO: 

 
• Change of use of commercial, business and service use (use class E) to 

residential (Part 3, class MA); 
• Change of use of hot food takeaway, betting office, payday loan shop or 

launderette to residential (Part 3, class M); 
• Change of use of casino or amusement arcade to residential (Part 3, class 

N); 
• Demolition of single, purpose built, detached block of flats or a single, 

detached office, light industrial or research and development building 
and its replacement with a detached block of flats or detached house 
(Part 20, class ZA); 

• Up to two additional residential storeys on a detached, purpose built 
block of flats (Part 20, class A); 

• Up to two additional residential storeys on a detached commercial or 
mixed-use building (in use for retail, financial and professional, 
restaurant and café, office, research and development, light industrial, 
betting shop, payday loan shop, launderette) (Part 20, class AA); 

Page 16



• Up to two additional residential storeys on a two or more storey terraced 
commercial or mixed-use building (see class AA for uses) or one additional 
storey on a one storey building (Part 20, class AB); 

• Construction of new residential above a terraced house, two storeys in 
the case of houses of two or more storeys or one additional storey in the 
case of a one storey house (Part 20, class AC);  

• Construction of new residential above a detached house, two storeys in 
the case of houses of two or more storeys or one additional storey in the 
case of a one storey house (Part 20, class AD). 

 
3.4 Each of the above rights has its own set of restrictions which limit the ability 

to take up the right, and specified matters that can be considered through 
the prior approval process.  However, these are far from comprehensive.  For 
instance, there is no ability to specify the type of accommodation (in terms 
of number of bedrooms), and, for changes of use from use class E, no 
safeguard against loss of essential services and facilities (other than medical 
facilities and nurseries).  Conditions around vacancy are weak, and there are 
no mechanisms to seek contributions towards affordable housing.  Whilst 
these conditions and caveats may therefore be of some use, they will by no 
means address all the potential impacts that would have been part of 
determining a planning application. 

 
 Article 4 directions 
3.5 Under Article 4 of the GPDO, a planning authority can remove specified PDR, 

and require that a planning application be made.  There are a number of 
existing Article 4 directions in operation in Reading.  For instance, for many 
years, small clusters of houses with patterned brickwork or other features 
have been subject to Article 4 to remove rights around development in the 
curtilage of a dwellinghouse.  In addition, more recently, Article 4 directions 
have been put in place in much of Park, Redlands and Katesgrove wards, as 
well as Jesse Terrace, to control the conversion of dwellinghouses to small 
houses in multiple occupation. 

 
3.6 There are two types of Article 4 direction: immediate and non-immediate.  

An immediate Article 4 direction, once served on an area, removes the 
specified PDR with immediate effect.  However, under Sections 107 and 108 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the Council would be liable to 
pay compensation to landowners if permitted development rights were 
removed less than 12 months before initial notification.  For this reason, a 
non-immediate Article 4 direction, where the direction comes into force at 
least 12 months after it was initially made, would almost always be the 
preferred route. 

 
3.7 The process for making a non-immediate Article 4 direction is broadly as 

follows: 
• Article 4 is made (after agreement by the relevant committee) and notice 

given by advertisement, site notices and by serving notice on every owner 
and occupier (unless the number of owners and occupiers makes service 
impracticable).  The date the notice comes into force must be specified, 
and must be at least 12 months after last notice of making the direction 
to avoid compensation issues. 

• There would be a period of at least 21 days for consultation responses. 

Page 17



• At least 28 days after the last notice was served, the Article 4 would be 
confirmed by the relevant committee, and notice of confirmation served 
in the same way as the initial notice. 

• The Article 4 direction would come into effect on the specified date. 
 
3.8 The Secretary of State must be notified about any Article 4 direction, and has 

powers to modify and cancel directions.  An Article 4 direction can be made 
only where it is ‘expedient’, and it therefore requires justification.  Planning 
Practice Guidance states that  

 
“The use of article 4 directions to remove national permitted 
development rights should be limited to situations where this is 
necessary to protect local amenity or the wellbeing of the area. The 
potential harm that the direction is intended to address will need to be 
clearly identified, and there will need to be a particularly strong 
justification for the withdrawal of permitted development rights 
relating to: 
… 
• cases where prior approval powers are available to control permitted 

development 
…” 

 
3.9 Therefore, any proposal to put an Article 4 direction in place will need to be 

accompanied by clear evidence to show the harm that results from the PDR. 
 
3.10 National policy also has a particularly high bar for Article 4 directions that 

control changes of use to residential.  There was a Written Ministerial 
Statement (WMS) (1 July 2021) followed by corresponding changes to the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (20 July 2021) that confirmed 
this.  The NPPF states that the use of Article 4 directions should 

• “where they relate to change from non-residential use to residential 
use, be limited to situations where an Article 4 direction is necessary 
to avoid wholly unacceptable adverse impacts (this could include the 
loss of the essential core of a primary shopping area which would 
seriously undermine its vitality and viability, but would be very 
unlikely to extend to the whole of a town centre)” 

 
3.11 The WMS clarified this matter further as follows: 

“Article 4 directions should be very carefully targeted, applying only to 
those locations where they are necessary to avoid wholly unacceptable 
adverse impacts. For that reason, I want to make clear that the 
geographical coverage of all Article 4 directions should be the smallest 
area possible to achieve the aim of the Article 4 direction. In respect of 
historic high streets and town centres, this is likely to be the irreducible 
core of a primary shopping area. It is very unlikely to be applicable to a 
broad area, and is not expected to be applied to an entire local authority 
area. Local authorities will need to have robust evidence to justify the 
Article 4 direction and the area it covers.” 

 
3.12 Finally, the WMS makes clear that the Secretary of State will make use of his 

powers regarding Article 4 directions where necessary. 
“I will instruct my officials to look closely at all new Article 4 directions 
to check that they comply with the new policy, and I will consider 
exercising my power to intervene if they do not.” 

Page 18



 
4.  THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 Current position 
 
4.1.1 The Council has long had a number of very significant concerns with the 

impacts of PDR in Reading, which it has expressed frequently, and include 
the following: 
• The poor quality and lack of outdoor space of dwellings; 
• The small size of dwellings, which are dominated by studio or one-

bedroom homes; 
• The inappropriate location of homes due to matter such as noise and 

disturbance; 
• The loss of valuable employment floorspace; 
• The impacts on existing businesses by introducing new residents on 

adjacent sites; 
• The loss of important shops and services; 
• Failure to make provision for affordable housing; and 
• Failure to make provision for vital infrastructure. 

 
4.1.2 Policy Committee on 23 September 2021 agreed, in the light of these concerns 

as expressed in more detail in an evidence document provided to Committee, 
to make an Article 4 direction to remove the PDR of greatest concern within 
a number of areas of Reading (Minute 35 refers).  The forms of PDR to be 
removed were: 
• Change of use of commercial, business and service use (use class E) to 

residential (Part 3, class MA); 
• Change of use of hot food takeaway, betting office, payday loan shop or 

launderette to residential (Part 3, class M); 
• Change of use of casino or amusement arcade to residential (Part 3, class 

N); 
• Demolition of single, purpose built, detached block of flats or a single, 

detached office, light industrial or research and development building 
and its replacement with a detached block of flats or detached house 
(Part 20, class ZA); 

• Up to two additional residential storeys on a detached commercial or 
mixed use building (in use for retail, financial and professional, 
restaurant and café, office, research and development, light industrial, 
betting shop, payday loan shop, launderette) (Part 20, class AA); and 

• Up to two additional residential storeys on a two or more storey terraced 
commercial or mixed use building (see class AA for uses) or one additional 
storey on a one storey building (Part 20, class AB). 

 
4.1.3 The areas covered were: 

• The entire town centre, as defined in the Local Plan; 
• District and local centres, as defined in the Local Plan; 
• Core employment areas, as defined in the Local Plan; 
• Other primarily commercial or retail locations; and 
• Areas with the poorest levels of air quality. 

 
4.1.4 This direction was made on 10 November 2021, specifying that it would come 

into force on 15 November 2022, after a 12-month lead-in required to avoid 
the need for compensation.  There were a number of notification 

Page 19



requirements, including notifying the Secretary of State, with which the 
Council complied between 11 and 14 November 2021.  Notification resulted 
in a period of consultation, which lasted up to 13 December.  Four 
representations to this consultation were received, and these are summarised 
in Appendix 2. 

 
4.1.5 The direction cannot come into force unless it is confirmed by the Council, 

taking the representations to the consultation into account. Of the four 
representations received, one raises no comments.  Two are supportive of 
the principle but seek inclusion of additional areas.  The fourth 
representation objects to the direction and considers that it does not meet 
the policy tests.  Detailed responses to these representations are set out in 
Appendix 2, but in general it is not considered that they form grounds not to 
proceed to confirmation. 

 
4.1.6 As set out in paragraphs 3.8-3.12, national policy sets a high bar for Article 4 

directions that impact on changes of use to residential, and there is a real 
possibility of the Secretary of State using his powers of modification or 
cancellation.  Council officers have been in discussions with officials at the 
Department of Levelling-Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) since May 
about the direction, and officials have expressed concerns that the evidence 
provided does not show that the smallest possible geographical area has been 
covered.  The discussions between Council officers and DLUHC are ongoing, 
and a new Secretary of State was appointed in September, which means that 
there is not expected to be a quick resolution of this issue before 15th 
November when the direction is due to come into force.  As such, there 
remains a strong likelihood that the Secretary of State will use modification 
or cancellation powers, which can be used at any time before or after a 
direction is confirmed. 

 
4.2 Option Proposed 
 
4.2.1 Committee is recommended to confirm the direction as originally made 

(Appendix 3).  In doing so, Committee is also recommended to agree the 
responses to the four representations received to the consultation (Appendix 
2). 

 
4.2.2 Although the discussions between DLUHC and Council officers are ongoing, 

the advice from DLUHC has been to proceed with confirming the direction 
given the approaching date of coming into force.  This is the route that a 
number of authorities in a similar situation are taking.  The Council does not 
have powers to amend the direction once it is made (either to alter the date 
of coming into force, or to amend its content or coverage), meaning that not 
confirming the direction will mean that it remains dormant until such time as 
it is confirmed.  The Council would have up to another year to potentially 
confirm the direction before it can no longer come into force, and exceeding 
this would mean needing to start again and make a fresh direction, including 
the associated 12-month period before it comes into force. 

 
4.2.3 Officers’ understanding based on discussions is that the Secretary of State 

will seek to use his powers to modify the direction based on an agreed 
approach with the Council, albeit that no agreement with the Council is 
required.  This may happen at any point including after the direction comes 
into force.  Confirmation of the direction at this point therefore represents a 

Page 20



pragmatic approach that allows discussions to continue and does not lead to 
significant further delay to make a new direction.  Until such time as the SoS 
modifies or cancels the direction, it would be in force as originally intended 
and would mean that proposals for the specified forms of development within 
the defined areas would require planning permission.  

 
4.2.7 If Committee agrees this recommendation, the notices of confirmation of the 

direction would need to be served in the same way as notices of making the 
direction, including by site notice, local advertisement, notification of 
statutory undertakers that own land within the area, local businesses and the 
Secretary of State.  The direction would come into force on 15th November 
2022, and from that date any proposal for development specified in the 
direction, within the specified area, would require planning permission. 

 
4.3 Other Options Considered 
 
4.3.1 There are only two alternative options that could be considered, as follows. 

 
4.3.2 Not to confirm the direction:  Not confirming the direction would mean that 

it simply does not come into force.  It would lie dormant until 12th December 
2023, after which it could no longer come into force as 2 years had elapsed 
since the end of the consultation period.  In practical terms there would be 
no incentive for the Secretary of State to either cancel or modify the 
direction if it has not, or is not due to, come into force, and is likely to mean 
that the specified forms of PDR would continue to apply in Reading for an 
indefinite period. 
 

4.3.3 To cancel the direction:  The Council may, by making a subsequent 
direction, cancel any direction it has made.  There would be no particular 
benefit at this stage to doing so, unless the Council planned to take a very 
different approach with a new direction or no direction at all.  This would 
mean that all of the specified forms of PDR would continue to apply across 
the Borough until such time as a new direction was made, confirmed and 
came into force. 

 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 The Council’s vision is as follows: 
 

“To help Reading realise its potential – and to ensure that everyone who lives 
and works here can share the benefits of its success.” 

 
5.2 The recommended action helps to achieve the vision by ensuring that 

residents of new dwellings in Reading are not detrimentally affected by the 
poor quality or inappropriate mix of homes, and that development helps to 
realise Reading’s potential through contributing to affordable housing, 
mitigating the impacts on infrastructure and securing economic growth. 

 
5.3 The recommended action also contributes to the following Corporate Plan 

themes: 
 

Healthy environment 

Page 21



• Ensuring that new development is subject to the Council’s planning 
policies that seek to address the climate emergency through improved 
standards of new housing; 

• Ensuring that new development is subject to policies that ensure 
adequate provision of outdoor amenity space and protection from high 
levels of noise and disturbance and poor air quality, thus helping to 
prevent impacts on physical and mental health. 

 
Thriving Communities 
• Ensuring that new developments contribute towards the provision of 

much-needed affordable housing; 
• Ensuring that new development is subject to policies that secure high 

standards of accessibility and adaptability of new dwellings. 
 

Inclusive economy 
• Prevents developments that could negatively affect economic growth 

by eroding employment space or resulting in inappropriately located 
new homes that restrict the operations of existing businesses; 

• Protects the health of Reading’s high streets that provide a range of 
services and facilities for the whole community. 

 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The Article 4 direction will not necessarily prevent development being 

undertaken, but will instead ensure that it is considered through the planning 
application process which will mean consideration against the full range of 
Local Plan policies and associated documents.  As it stands, major new-build 
residential development that benefits from PDR does not need to comply with 
policy H5 which requires zero carbon homes (defined as being, at a minimum, 
a 35% improvement over the emissions rate in the building regulations with a 
contribution towards carbon offset to cover the remainder).  Currently, other 
matters such as landscaping, tree planting, climate change adaptation and 
the impacts of poor air quality on residents of the development are unable to 
be considered for PDR proposals.  The recommended action would therefore 
ensure that the adopted policies in the Local Plan apply, and as such the 
environmental and climate implications would be positive.  Appendix 4 
contains a Climate Assessment tool showing a net medium positive impact. 

 
7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 
 
7.1 Under the process set out in Schedule 3 of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended), as soon as 
practicable after an Article 4 direction is made, notice must be served by 
local advertisement and at least two site notices within the area.  A local 
advertisement was placed in the Reading Chronicle on Thursday 11th 
November 2021, and 53 site notices were displayed within the various parts 
of the area. Notice must also be served on the owner and occupier of every 
piece of land within the area to which the direction relates, unless individual 
service on that owner or occupier is impracticable because it is difficult to 
identify or locate that person, or unless the number of owners or occupiers 
within the area relates makes individual service impracticable.  It was 
considered that, with around 4,000 individual addresses within the proposed 
direction, individual service was impracticable.  However, other measures 
were taken including an e-mail to around 130 active planning agents in 

Page 22



Reading and to 900 contacts via the Reading Central Business Improvement 
District, which covers the commercial core of central Reading.  Local contacts 
for the High Street Heritage Action Zone, which covers the town centre 
conservation areas, were also contacted.  The e-mail also included known 
representative organisations such as the Federation of Small Businesses, 
Caversham Traders, Thames Valley Chamber of Commerce and Thames Valley 
Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership.  All statutory undertakers known or 
thought to own land within the area were also contacted. 
 

7.2 Four representations to the consultation were received.  These are 
summarised in Appendix 2, together with draft Council responses. 

 
8. EQUALITY ASSESSMENT  
 
8.1 The Scoping Assessment, included at Appendix 1 identifies that an Equality 

Impact Assessment (EqIA) is relevant to this decision.  The EqIA (also at 
Appendix 1) identifies that, where there are identified impacts upon specific 
groups, these are expected to be positive.  Compliance with the duties under 
S149 of the Equality Act 2010 can involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others, but it is not considered that there will be a negative 
impact on other groups with relevant protected characteristics. 

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 

(as amended) (known as the GPDO) grants planning permission to a number 
of specified forms of development.  The forms of development for which 
permission is granted are set out in Schedule 2 of the GPDO. 

 
9.2 Article 4 of the GPDO allows the local planning authority to make a direction 

that removes specified permitted development rights within a defined area 
if those rights would be prejudicial to proper planning of their area or 
constitute a threat to the amenities of the area.  Schedule 3 of the GPDO 
describes the process by which these Article 4 directions are made.  
Paragraph 1 of Schedule 3 deals with non-immediate directions, and it 
requires that, after a direction is made, it must be confirmed following a 
consultation period before it can come into force. 

 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The costs of making and confirming the Article 4 direction are met from the 

existing Planning service budget. These costs relate primarily to officer time 
and the cost of serving notices and local advertisements. 

 
10.2 Confirming the Article 4 direction will result in the need for an application 

for planning permission rather than a prior approval process once the 
direction is in force.  After changes to the law in 2017, there is no longer any 
exemption from planning application fees in an Article 4 direction area.  
Planning application fees will therefore be charged as permitted by Town and 
Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests and 
Site Visits) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2017. 

 
10.3 The recommended action is therefore expected to mean an increase in 

planning fee income.  Since the additional PDR were introduced in May 2013 

Page 23



in place of applications for full planning permission, the loss in fee income to 
the Council was estimated to be £1,838,858 up to September 2022.  Fees for 
prior approvals for relevant developments have recently significantly 
increased, but still fall short of the equivalent planning application fee, and 
do not reflect the full costs of assessing the application, particularly as this 
frequently involves not only planning officer time but also the need for 
specialist advice on matters such as noise, contamination, transport and flood 
risk due to the increasing scope of prior approvals.  A comparison of fees is 
set out in Table 1. 

 
 Table 1: Comparison of prior approval and planning application fees (last 

updated August 2021) 
Type of development Prior approval fee Planning application 

fee 
Change of use from 
commercial to residential 

£96 per dwelling £462 per dwelling 
(up to 50 dwellings) 

Change of use from betting 
shop, pay day loan shop, 
launderette, takeaway, 
casino, amusement arcade 
to residential 

£96 total (unless 
there are building 
operations) 

£462 per dwelling 
(up to 50 dwellings) 

Construction of new 
dwellinghouses 

£334 per dwelling 
(up to 50 dwellings) 

£462 per dwelling 
(up to 50 dwellings) 

 
10.4 The recommended action will also mean that, as a planning application will 

be required to which the Council’s adopted planning policies will be applied, 
a Section 106 agreement is likely to be necessary for most permissions.  Up 
to now, developments subject to prior approval have not included such 
agreements which has meant that no contributions have been made to 
affordable housing (either on-site provision or off-site financial 
contributions).  There was also therefore no mechanism for securing other 
financial contributions towards matters such as employment and skills plans, 
or other site-specific infrastructure contributions such as transport, 
education and leisure (although these matters are usually covered by CIL 
which remains equally applicable to permitted development). 

 
10.5 The proposed Article 4 direction will affect the permitted development rights 

that can be applied to the Council’s own assets.  It is not possible to 
specifically quantify the impacts as a result of the proposed direction, and it 
is certainly the case that the Council has to date rarely made use of the PDR 
dealt with in this report.  It is worth noting that the Article 4 direction does 
not prevent changes of use to, or development for, residential, it merely 
ensures that such developments are considered through a planning 
application process. 

 
Value for Money (VFM) 

 
10.6 Confirming the Article 4 direction would ensure that the full range of planning 

implications of the specified forms of development can be considered during 
a planning application process to which adequate application fees apply and 
which make relevant contributions to affordable housing and local 
infrastructure, and therefore represents good value for money. 
 
Risk Assessment 

Page 24



 
10.7 The only financial risks associated with this report would be in the event that 

the Secretary of State modifies or cancels this direction.  If the direction is 
modified, the costs would be in relation to only serving the relevant notices.  
If the direction is cancelled, the Council may need to revise the Article 4 
direction, involving significant evidence assembly, and serve relevant notices 
again. These costs would all need to be met from the existing Planning Service 
budget. 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 

 

Page 25



                

 
APPENDIX 1: EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 

Provide basic details 

Name of proposal/activity/policy to be assessed: 

Article 4 direction to remove permitted development rights that would result in 
residential development 

Directorate:  DEGNS – Directorate of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 

Service: Planning 

Name: Mark Worringham 

Job Title: Planning Policy Manager 

Date of assessment: 19/08/2021 

 

Scope your proposal 
 

What is the aim of your policy or new service?  
To put in place a legal direction to remove certain permitted development rights in 
parts of Reading to include the town centre, district and local centres and 
employment and commercial areas. 
 
Who will benefit from this proposal and how? 
This proposal will benefit the whole community (including potential occupants of 
development) by ensuring that developments that would result in new dwellings 
are subject to a planning application process that ensures that impacts on the 
amenity of the area are considered. 

 
What outcomes will the change achieve and for whom? 
The main outcome will be that developments that would result in residential 
development are subject to a planning permission process.  This will consider all of 
the many impacts on the amenity of the area and on the potential residents. 
 
Who are the main stakeholders and what do they want? 
Potential residents – a residential dwelling which does not detrimentally impact 
quality of life and physical and mental health. 
Neighbouring residents – developments that do not detrimentally affect the 
residential amenity of the area 
Neighbouring businesses – developments that do not detrimentally impact their 
operation. 
Developers and landowners – planning processes that offer flexibility and/or 
provide certainty. 
Whole community – developments that contribute towards meeting affordable 
housing needs and mitigating infrastructure impacts. 

 

Page 26



Assess whether an EIA is Relevant 
How does your proposal relate to eliminating discrimination; promoting equality of 
opportunity; promoting good community relations? 
 
Do you have evidence or reason to believe that some (racial, disability, gender, 
sexuality, age and religious belief) groups may be affected differently than others? 
(Think about your monitoring information, research, national data/reports etc) 
Yes  No   

 
Is there already public concern about potentially discriminatory practices/impact 
or could there be? Think about your complaints, consultation, feedback. 
Yes  No   
 
If the answer is Yes to any of the above you need to do an Equality Impact 
Assessment. 
 
If No you MUST complete this statement 
 
 

 

 

 

Assess the Impact of the Proposal 
 
Your assessment must include: 

• Consultation 

• Collection and Assessment of Data 

• Judgement about whether the impact is negative or positive 
 
Consultation 
 
Relevant groups/experts How were/will the 

views of these groups 
be obtained 

Date when contacted 

Landowners  Local advertisement, 
site notice 

October 2021 

 
Collect and Assess your Data 
 
Describe how could this proposal impact on Racial groups 
No specific impacts are identified. 
Is there a negative impact?  Yes   No      Not sure  
 
Describe how could this proposal impact on Gender/transgender (cover 
pregnancy and maternity, marriage) 
No specific impacts are identified. 
Is there a negative impact?   Yes   No      Not sure  
 

N/A

Page 27



Describe how could this proposal impact on Disability 
New dwellings provided as a result of permitted development rights do not need to 
comply with the housing standards set out in policy H5 of the Local Plan.  This 
policy ensures that all new-build homes are to be accessible and adaptable (to 
ensure that adaptations can be made to a home as residents’ life circumstances 
change), and that 5% of homes on developments of 20 or more dwellings are 
wheelchair accessible and adaptable.  This means that developments through 
permitted development are unlikely to provide dwellings that meet these 
standards.  The result of the recommended action will be to ensure that 
compliance with these standards is a condition of receiving permission, and will 
therefore represent a positive impact in disability. 
Is there a negative impact?  Yes   No      Not sure  
 
Describe how could this proposal impact on Sexual orientation (cover civil 
partnership) 
No specific impacts are identified. 
Is there a negative impact?  Yes   No      Not sure  
 
Describe how could this proposal impact on Age 
No specific impacts are identified. 
Is there a negative impact?   Yes   No      Not sure  
 
Describe how could this proposal impact on Religious belief? 
No specific impacts are identified. 
Is there a negative impact?   Yes  No     Not sure  
 

Make a Decision 
Tick which applies 
 
1. No negative impact identified   Go to sign off     
 
2. Negative impact identified but there is a justifiable reason  

   
 You must give due regard or weight but this does not necessarily mean that 

the equality duty overrides other clearly conflicting statutory duties that you 
must comply with.  

 Reason 
       
 
3. Negative impact identified or uncertain     
  
 What action will you take to eliminate or reduce the impact? Set out your 

actions and timescale? 
  
 
 
How will you monitor for adverse impact in the future? 
Compliance with accessibility requirements will be a condition of receiving 
planning permission, and this will be capable of being monitored on an annual 
basis. 
 
 

Page 28



Signed (completing officer) Mark Worringham Date: 19th August 2021 
Signed (Lead Officer)  Mark Worringham Date: 19th August 2021 

 
 
  

Page 29



APPENDIX 2: SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED AND PROPOSED 
RESPONSE 
 
The table below includes summaries of the representations received to the 
consultation. Please be aware that these are not necessarily verbatim comments, 
rather they are summarised for ease of reference. 
 

Name Representation Council Response 

Mr Robert 
Cox 

If my understanding is correct the aim is to 
control the loss of sites which employ people, 
i.e., businesses of one form or another, to 
residential accommodation. 

While it is clear that there is a demand for 
houses, equally there must also be sufficient 
employment otherwise the local economy will 
become unbalanced. Therefore I support this 
scheme which gives the Council some control 
over the potential loss of employment within 
Reading. 

I am also glad to see that the Council has 
included controls on the potential construction of 
new dwellings on the top of existing business 
premises, whether detached or terraced. Reading 
has several local centres where the buildings date 
from the late 19th and early 20th century such as 
the shops close to me in Christchurch Road 
included in Area 33 of the map and which could 
contribute considerably more to the street scene 
and local heritage interest than they do at 
present. By ruling out significant changes to the 
buildings’ height and roof form, this Directive 
could, given some care and attention to the 
buildings, make it possible to re-generate and 
support a more inclusive atmosphere to these 
local areas. The newer centres built since the 
Second World War will benefit as well since the 
architectural cohesion can be maintained. 

If it is not too late I would ask that the small 
shopping/business area at the southern end of 
Northcourt Avenue at its junction with 
Cressingham Road and Sycamore Road also be 
included in this scheme. Any increase in building 
heights or loss of local employment would not be 
beneficial to the area. 

It is known that ‘heritage' is good for business as 
is an unthreatening environment in and around 
shopping centres. 

I support the reasons for this Article 4 Directive 
and I hope that it achieves its aims. 

Noted. 

In terms of the area at the junction of Northcourt 
Avenue and Cressingham Road, this currently consists 
of three shops, a car workshop and a scout 
headquarters.  Whilst the Council agrees that, in 
principle, proposals to change commercial into 
residential in all locations should go through the 
planning application process, national policy sets a 
high bar in terms of justifying inclusion of areas 
within a direction.  The Council’s view was that, in 
terms of local centres, those that had been defined 
in the Local Plan and therefore been through a 
process of evidence collection, consultation and 
public examination as defined centres would give the 
most robust basis for decision making. 

There may be possibilities to extend the direction in 
the future should this be justified and necessary due 
to the likely harm in other areas. 

Mr Richard 
Lainchbury 

I'd like to say that I fully support this direction, 
and I don't think these go far enough. They should 
include more areas where new residential areas 
are poorly supported. 

I'd like to see the area around the moorings 
included as well. This area has a contentious 
issue with a rather aggressive developer. 
Converting this plot into housing would cause 
many issues that are well known to the planning 
department. This would help put the matter to 
rest as any changes would allow the council to 
control development and due process followed. 

Noted. 

It is understood that this response related to the 
moorings at Mill Green in Caversham.  It is not clear 
that any buildings on this site are within a use that 
could benefit from the permitted development rights 
that this direction seeks to address.  However, if they 
could, according to our latest Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (2017), the whole of this site is within 
Flood Zone 3b, the functional floodplain.  Within the 
prior approval process, the Council is able to take 
flood risk into account, and it is clear from national 
policy that residential development in the functional 
floodplain would not be appropriate.  Therefore, 
adequate tools to address these specific rights in this 
location already exist. 

Whilst the Council agrees that, in principle, proposals 
to change commercial into residential in all locations 

Page 30



Name Representation Council Response 
should go through the planning application process, 
national policy sets a high bar in terms of justifying 
inclusion of areas within a direction, and the area of 
the direction has therefore had to be minimised to 
the smallest geographical area possible. 

National 
Highways 

We have reviewed submitted information and 
have ‘No Comments’. 

Noted. No change needed. 

Universities 
Superannuat
ion Scheme 

USS strongly disagrees with the Council’s 
approach to applying a wide reaching Article 4 
Direction to large areas of Reading. This is in 
direct conflict with Paragraph 53 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework which requires Article 
4 Directions to apply to the smallest geographical 
area possible. USS therefore requests that the 
Council does not confirm the Article 4 as 
proposed. The reasons for this are set out below. 

Mixture of Uses in Town Centres 

USS acknowledges the important role that 
commercial floor space plays in the local and 
national economy and is pleased that the Council 
shares this view. However, USS also recognises 
the need for new housing and supports the 
flexibility which permitted development rights 
provide, particularly the flexibility they offer for 
the ongoing viability of commercial assets, 
including the ability for new homes to come 
forward in sustainable town centre locations. 

A mixture of uses in town centre locations can 
help support the vitality and character of the 
wider area and support its economic 
performance. The wider social and economic 
impacts can also be greater, for example by 
creating mixed communities that support and 
improve the viability of existing uses in town 
centres. 

Class MA of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as 
amended) which permits development for the 
change of use from Use Class E (commercial) to 
Use Class C3 (residential) allows commercial 
buildings to contribute to increasing the housing 
stock. This can take place as part of a mix of 
uses, retaining some of the employment space 
whilst providing complementary residential uses 
where appropriate. USS believes that these 
opportunities should not be restricted given the 
context of a national housing crisis that is 
particularly prevalent in the South East.  

Paragraph 38 of the When is Permission Required 
Planning Practice Guidance (2021) states that 
Article 4 Directions should be limited to situations 
where an Article 4 direction is necessary to avoid 
wholly unacceptable adverse impacts. USS 
considers that this is not the case for the Site. 
The Site and its structure are well suited to a 
mixed employment and residential use which 
could be achieved through Class MA of Part 3 of 
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as 
amended). This is because of the Site’s central 
location and the large floor plates within Aquis 
House. 

Reading Town Centre is a highly sustainable town 
centre location which already supports successful 
residential development. Commercial uses could 
be retained on the ground floor of town centre 
buildings and could be complemented with 
residential uses above ground floor level, which 

No change proposed. 

The Council considers that this direction already 
seeks to cover the smallest geographical area 
possible to address the wholly unacceptable adverse 
impacts.  This is set out in detail in the supporting 
evidence document.  The area proposed to be 
covered represents only 12% of the Borough’s area, 
and its coverage has been robustly justified. 

Mixture of Uses in Town Centres 

The Council recognises the benefits of a mix and 
diversity of uses in town centres, including 
residential, and has policies in place to achieve 
exactly that.  As set out in the evidence document, 
an increasing residential presence in the centre of 
Reading is a long-term trend that pre-dated the 
office to residential PDR by many years, and has been 
achieved through the planning application route.  The 
planning application process, where an application is 
judged against those policies ensuring a mix of uses, 
is the way to ensure that a mix and diversity is 
maintained. 

The Evidence Document demonstrates that PDR has 
not resulted in a clear boost to overall housing supply 
in Reading, with overall housing delivery at similar 
levels before and after introduction of PDR.  Nor has 
it clearly resulted in a particular boost to town 
centre housing. 

It is stated that residential uses of upper floors could 
be allowed whilst retaining the ground floors in 
commercial use.  However, the effect of the current 
PDR is that, without this direction, the Council would 
have no control over the retention of even ground 
floor uses within the centre.  As such, allowing 
continued unrestricted use of PDR within central 
Reading is likely to lead to a decrease rather than an 
increase in mix and diversity of uses. 

The important point to make clear is that an Article 4 
direction does not mean that employment uses 
cannot necessarily be converted to residential, rather 
it puts in place a mechanism for ensuring that such 
conversions are appropriate and mitigate their 
impacts. 

Adjacent Change of Use 

The fact that an adjacent building was considered 
appropriate for a change of use to residential in 
terms of contamination, transport, flood risk and 
noise, the only matters that could have been taken 
into account at the time, does not mean that an 
adjacent change of use will be appropriate.  Nor does 
the introduction of the Article 4 direction necessarily 
mean that such a change of use would be 
inappropriate.  The direction is to reintroduce a 
mechanism that ensures the impacts can be 
adequately considered. 

Housing Need 

The Evidence Document demonstrates that the 
average number of homes completed per year in 
Reading overall does not appear to have increased as 

Page 31



Name Representation Council Response 
would improve the vitality of the area. The 
permitted development rights should therefore 
not be restricted. 

Adjacent Change of Use 

The adjacent building that is in USS’ ownership, 
33 Blagrave Street Reading, was granted prior 
approval on 15 August 2018 for: 

“Change of use from Class B1(a) (offices) to C3 
(dwelling houses) to comprise of 28 dwellings (17 
x 1-bed and 11 x 2- bed) . Prior Notification under 
Class O, Part 3 of Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015.” 

The officers report identified that there were no 
concerns in relation to Transport and Highways; 
Contamination; Flood Risk and Noise from 
surrounding commercial premises. This has 
established the principle of a change of use being 
acceptable and it is likely a similar conclusion 
would be reached for Aquis House. The Council 
should not be restricting changes of use that are 
acceptable though a blanket approach Article 4 
Direction. 

Housing Need  

The Local Plan (2019) sets a housing target for 
the Council of 15,847 homes (averaging 689 
homes per annum) for the period 2013 to 2036. 
The Local Plan proposes to provide the majority, 
but not all, of Reading’s housing need. A shortfall 
of 230 dwellings was identified to be provided 
elsewhere in the Western Berkshire Housing 
Market Area. By restricting permitted 
development rights, the Council is further 
restricting its ability to deliver its own housing 
need within Reading Borough Council boundaries.  

The proposed Direction could therefore impact 
the delivery of housing within the area which 
contradicts national planning policy. Paragraph 
60 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
states that “to support the Government’s 
objective of significantly boosting the supply of 
homes, it is important that a sufficient amount 
and variety of land can come forward where it is 
needed”.  

It is important to note that residential 
development delivered through permitted 
development rights can lead to good quality 
homes which contribute to solving the housing 
crisis. Under the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as 
amended), prior approval is required for 
conversions to residential use. The Council 
therefore has the ability to prevent conversions 
that would be unacceptable through the prior 
approval process without the need for the Article 
4 Direction. Furthermore, conversions are subject 
to extensive conditions set out in Class MA which 
prevent unacceptable conversions. 

Asset Management 

It is also important to note that it is unlikely 
commercial assets would be converted to 
residential uses unless demand for commercial 
uses reduces considerably. The balance of supply 
and demand for commercial uses would ensure 
that commercial space that is in demand is not 
lost to residential, whilst allowing underutilised 
commercial space to contribute to solving the 
housing crisis and to contribute to the ongoing 

a result of the introduction of PDR, and it is not 
therefore considered that removal of these rights will 
necessarily reduce housing delivery. 

It is also important to note that the answer to the 
housing crisis is not to provide a large amount of 
poor-quality homes.  It is appreciated that there is 
nothing to prevent developments under PDR providing 
a high quality of accommodation, but equally, as 
demonstrated in the Evidence Document, there is 
nothing to prevent PDR development providing an 
extremely poor quality of accommodation in entirely 
inappropriate locations. Those developers who 
provide an appropriate, high quality development can 
continue to do so by making a planning application. 

Asset Management 

The Council does not share the view that commercial 
floorspace would only be converted to residential 
when the demand for commercial floorspace reduces.  
The evidence so far has been that most office 
buildings converted to residential in Reading had 
some form of office occupation before being 
converted, and therefore did not to pay Community 
Infrastructure Levy.  Some commercial values fall 
below residential values, as seen in the Evidence 
Document, but this nevertheless represents 
important floorspace, including for small and growing 
businesses. 

The effect of the direction would, by design, reduce 
some flexibility for landowners, but the Council’s 
view is that this flexibility should not be prioritised 
over the wholly unacceptable forms of harm 
identified in the Evidence Document.  With a 
planning application required, the up-to-date policies 
in the Local Plan should provide sufficient certainty 
for landowners about what would be acceptable. 

Conclusion 

It is not agreed that the direction should not be 
confirmed. The prior approval process does not give 
sufficient tools to resist development that causes the 
wholly unacceptable adverse impacts identified, 
which is why this direction is necessary. 

Page 32



Name Representation Council Response 
vitality of town centres. Town centres are 
susceptible to change in line with economic and 
cultural circumstances and consequently require 
flexibility to adapt to these changes. 

The existing permitted development rights 
system provides certainty and flexibility for 
landowners to assist in the future planning of 
assets. This is in line with Paragraph 82 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework which 
identifies that planning policies should “be 
flexible enough to accommodate needs not 
anticipated in the plan, allow for new and 
flexible working practices (such as live-work 
accommodation), and to enable a rapid response 
to changes in economic circumstances.” The 
continued flexibility allows landowners to 
respond quickly and effectively to changing 
demand, ensuring assets can be fully utilised 
according to changing needs. In comparison, an 
increase in uncertainty can impact on future 
investment decisions for such assets. The 
proposed Article 4 Direction reduces this 
flexibility, which could stifle economic growth 
and risks the creation of derelict sites, should 
demand for the commercial use of these assets 
reduce in the future. The current permitted 
development rights reduce this risk significantly. 

USS considers that sites, such as Aquis House, 
present attractive and sustainable opportunities 
for future residential development should the 
demand for employment floor space reduce in 
the future. The Site is a good example of a 
sustainable town centre location that would be 
well suited for residential redevelopment. The 
Site would also be suitable for a mixture of 
residential and commercial uses. 

Due to the complexities involved in asset 
management and to ensure that its assets retain 
the ability to respond to an ever-changing 
economic climate, USS urges the Council to 
reconsider confirming the Article 4 as proposed to 
not restrict management of its asset in the 
future. USS considers that the most efficient way 
to manage this is through the flexibility of the 
current permitted development rights and not 
through the implementation of the proposed 
Article 4 Direction. 

Conclusion 

In summary, USS objects to the proposed 
restrictions of permitted development rights and 
requests that the Council does not confirm the 
Article 4 as proposed. Residential uses are often 
acceptable alongside other town centres uses and 
the Council should instead use the prior approval 
process to prevent conversions that would be 
unacceptable, allowing acceptable conversions to 
provide much needed housing in the area. 

 

 
 
 
  

Page 33



APPENDIX 3: ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION AS MADE ON 10 NOVEMBER 2021 
  

Page 34



APPENDIX 4: CLIMATE ASSESSMENT TOOL 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2: DRAFT ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION 
 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (GENERAL PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT) 
ORDER 2015 (AS AMENDED) 
 
DIRECTION MADE UNDER ARTICLE 4(1) TO WHICH SCHEDULE 3 APPLIES  
 
 
WHEREAS Reading Borough Council being the appropriate local planning 
authority within the meaning of article 4(5) of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended), are 
satisfied that it is expedient that development of the description(s) set out 
in the Schedule below should not be carried out on the land shown edged 
black on the attached plans, unless planning permission is granted on an 
application made under Part III of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended,  
 
NOW THEREFORE the said Council in pursuance of the power conferred on 
them by article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (as amended) hereby direct that the permission 
granted by article 3 of the said Order shall not apply to development on the 
said land of the descriptions set out in the Schedule below: 
 
 
SCHEDULE  
 
The Article 4 Direction applies within the areas shown edged red on the 
attached plans, being development comprised within Classes M, MA and N of 
Part 3 of Schedule 2 and Classes ZA, AA, and AB of Part 20 of Schedule 2 to 
the said Order and its amendments and not being development comprised 
within any other Class: 
 
Part 3, Class MA: 
Development consisting of a change of use of a building and any land within 
its curtilage (excluding any building or land in relation to which prior 
approval under paragraphs M.2, MA.2, O.2 or PA.2 of Part 3 of Schedule 2 to 
the 2015 Order has been granted, or under the terms of that Part is treated 
as granted, before 23 September 2021, and had not expired by 23 
September 2021) from a use falling within Class E (commercial, business and 
service) of Schedule 2 to the Use Classes Order to a use falling within Class 
C3 (dwellinghouses) of Schedule 1 to that Order. 
 
Part 3, Class M: 
Development consisting of— 

(a) a change of use of a building from— 
(i) a use falling within one of the following— 

(aa) launderette; 
(bb) betting office; 
(cc) payday loan shop; 
(dd) hot food takeaway; or 

Page 37



(ii) a mixed use combining use as a dwellinghouse with a use falling 
within one of the uses mentioned in paragraph (i)(aa), (bb) or (cc) 
(whether that use was granted permission under Class G of this 
Part or otherwise); 

to a use falling within Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of Schedule 1 to the 
Use Classes Order; or 

(b) development referred to in paragraph (a) together with building 
operations reasonably necessary to convert the building to a use 
falling within Class C3 (dwellinghouses). 

 
Part 3, Class N: 
Development consisting of— 

(a) a change of use of a building and any land within its curtilage from a 
use as— 

(i) an amusement arcade or centre, or 
(ii) a casino, 
(excluding any building or land in relation to which prior approval 
under paragraph N.2 of Part 3 of Schedule 2 to the 2015 Order has 
been granted, or under the terms of that Part is treated as granted, 
before 23 September 2021, and had not expired by 23 September 
2021) 
to a use falling within Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of the Schedule to 
the Use Classes Order; 

(b) development referred to in paragraph (a) together with building 
operations reasonably necessary to convert the building referred to 
in paragraph (a) to a use falling within Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of 
that Schedule. 

 
Part 20, Class ZA: 
(1) Development consisting of works for the demolition of one or other of -  

(a) any building comprising a single purpose-built detached block of 
flats, and 

(b) any other single detached building, comprising premises 
established— 

(i) for office use falling within Class B1(a) of the Schedule to the 
1987 Order, 

(ii) for research and development falling within Class B1(b) of the 
Schedule to the 1987 Order, or 

(iii) for an industrial process falling within Class B1(c) of the Schedule 
to the 1987 Order, 

or for any combination of them existing on 12 March 2020 (excluding any 
building or land in relation to which prior approval under paragraph ZA.2 of 
Part 20 of Schedule 2 to the 2015 Order has been granted, or under the 
terms of that Part is treated as granted, before 23 September 2021, and had 
not expired by 23 September 2021), together with its replacement by a 
single building covered by sub-paragraph (2), involving operations listed in 
sub-paragraph (3). 
 
(2) The building in question is to comprise one or other of— 

(a) a purpose-built detached block of flats, or 

Page 38



(b) a purpose-built detached dwellinghouse. 
 

(3) The operations in question are— 
(a) operations reasonably necessary for the demolition and 

construction, which may include the installation of a basement or 
cellar in the new building, whether or not there is one in the old 
building; 

(b) works for the removal of plant servicing the old building; 
(c) works for the disconnection of services from the old building; 
(d) works for the removal of any means of access to and egress from the 

old building; 
(e) works for the removal of storage and waste from the old building; 
(f) works for the installation of plant to service the new building; 
(g) works for the installation of services to be connected to the new 

building; 
(h) works to enable access to and egress from the new building, 

including means of escape from fire; 
(i) works for the construction, within the new building, of storage, 

waste or other ancillary facilities to support the new building; 
(j) the use of scaffolding and other temporary structures to support the 

operations listed in paragraphs (a) to (i) over a period— 
(i) starting with their installation no earlier than one month before 

the beginning of those operations, and 
(ii) ending with their removal no later than one month after the 

completion of those operations. 
 
(4) In relation to Class ZA— 
 
“development” includes any change of use from the use of the old building 
to the use of the new building within Class C3 of the Schedule to the 1987 
Order; 
“the 1987 Order” means the Use Classes Order as in force on 12 March 2020; 
“the old building” and “the new building” respectively mean the building 
proposed for demolition and the building proposed as replacement; and  
“services” means water, drainage, electricity, gas, and other services to the 
extent reasonably necessary for the new building to function as the building 
in question as defined by sub-paragraph (2) above. 
 
Part 20, Class AA 
(1) Development consisting of works for the construction of up to two 
additional storeys of new dwellinghouses immediately above the topmost 
storey on a detached building to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, together 
with any or all— 
 

(a) engineering operations reasonably necessary to construct the 
additional storeys and new dwellinghouses; 

(b) works for the replacement of existing plant or installation of 
additional plant on the roof of the extended building reasonably 
necessary to service the new dwellinghouses; 

Page 39



(c) works for the construction of appropriate and safe access to and 
egress from the new dwellinghouses and existing premises in the 
building, including means of escape from fire, via additional 
external doors or external staircases; 

(d) works for the construction of storage, waste or other ancillary 
facilities reasonably necessary to support the new dwellinghouses. 

 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a building which is— 
 

(a) used for any purpose within Class A1 (shops), Class A2 (financial and 
professional services), Class A3 (restaurants and cafes) or Class B1(a) 
(offices) of the Schedule to the 1987 Order, or as a betting office, 
pay day loan shop or launderette; 

(b) in a mixed use combining— 
(i) two or more uses within paragraph (a); or 
(ii) a use falling within Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of the Schedule to 

the 1987 Order, together with one or more uses within paragraph 
(a). 

 
(3) In relation to Class AA, “the 1987 Order” means the Use Classes Order as 
in force on 5th March 2018. 

 
(excluding any building or land in relation to which prior approval under 
paragraph AA.2 of Part 20 of Schedule 2 to the 2015 Order has been 
granted, or under the terms of that Part is treated as granted, before 23 
September 2021, and had not expired by 23 September 2021) 
 
Part 20, Class AB 
(1) Development consisting of works for the construction of new 
dwellinghouses immediately above the topmost storey on a terrace building 
to which sub-paragraph(2) applies, where that development comprises— 
 

(a) up to two additional storeys, in the case of an existing building 
consisting of two or more storeys; 

(b) one additional storey, in the case of an existing building consisting of 
one storey, 

together with any development under sub-paragraph (3). 
 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a building which is— 
 

(a) used for any purpose within Class A1 (shops), Class A2 (financial and 
professional services), Class A3 (restaurants and cafes) or Class B1(a) 
(offices) of the Schedule to the 1987 Order, or as a betting office, pay 
day loan shop or launderette; 

(b) in a mixed use combining— 
(i) two or more uses within paragraph (a); or 
(ii) a use falling within Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of the Schedule to 

the 1987 Order, together with one or more uses within paragraph 
(a). 

 

Page 40



(3) Development consisting of any or all— 
 

(a) engineering operations reasonably necessary to construct the 
additional storeys and new dwellinghouses; 

(b) works for the replacement of existing plant or installation of 
additional plant on the roof of the extended building reasonably 
necessary to service the new dwellinghouses; 

(c) works for the construction of appropriate and safe access to and 
egress from the new dwellinghouses and existing premises, including 
means of escape from fire, via additional external doors or external 
staircases; 

(d) works for the construction of storage, waste or other ancillary 
facilities reasonably necessary to support the new dwellinghouses. 

 
(4) In relation to Class AB, “the 1987 Order” means the Use Classes Order as 
in force on 5th March 2018. 
 
(excluding any building or land in relation to which prior approval under 
paragraph AB.2 of Part 20 of Schedule 2 to the 2015 Order has been 
granted, or under the terms of that Part is treated as granted, before 23 
September 2021, and had not expired by 23 September 2021) 
 
THIS DIRECTION comes into force on 31 October 2022 
 
 
Made under the Common Seal of  
Reading Borough Council this  
27th day of September 2021.  
 
 
 
 
The Common Seal of the Council  
was affixed to this Direction in  
the presence of 
 
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
  

Page 41



IN
D

EX
 O

F 
M

A
P 

PA
G

ES
 

11 

 22 
33 

44 
52 555 

66 
77 

88 
99 

1010
 

111111
 

121212
 

131313
 

141414
 

151515
 

161616
 

171717
 

181818
 

191919
 

202020
 

212121
 

222222
 

232323
 

242424
 

252525
 

262622
 

27272272
 

282828
 

292929
 

3030
 

313131
 

323232
 

3333
 

343434
 

353535
 

3636
 

3737
 

383838888
 

393939
 

4040
 

4141
 

424242
 

434343
 

444444
 

3

45

44

45454545
 

4645 4646
 

4747
 

4848
 

494949
 5050

 

5151
 

5252
 

5353
 

Page 42



M
ap

 1
 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

Page 43



M
ap

 2
 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 
5 

Page 44



M
ap

 3
 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

8 

Page 45



M
ap

 4
 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

5 

11
 

Page 46



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 5
 

12
 

6 
4 

2 

Page 47



M
ap

 6
 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

5 
7 

13
 

Page 48



M
ap

 7
 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

6 

14
 

Page 49



M
ap

 8
 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

3 

15
 

9 

Page 50



M
ap

 9
 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

8 15
 

16
 

10
 

Page 51



M
ap

 1
0 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

9 16
 

17
 

11
 

Page 52



M
ap

 1
1 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

4 

10
 

18
 

12
 

Page 53



M
ap

 1
2 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

5 

11
 

19
 

13
 

Page 54



M
ap

 1
3 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

6 

12
 

20
 

14
 

Page 55



M
ap

 1
4 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

7 

13
 

21
 

Page 56



M
ap

 1
5 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

8 

16
 

9 

Page 57



M
ap

 1
6 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

9 

15
 

17
 

10
 

Page 58



M
ap

 1
7 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

10
 

16
 

18
 

Page 59



M
ap

 1
8 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

11
 

17
 

22
 

19
 

Page 60



M
ap

 1
9 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

12
 

18
 

23
 

20
 

Page 61



M
ap

 2
0 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

13
 

19
 

24
 

21
 

Page 62



M
ap

 2
1 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

14
 

20
 

25
 

26
 

Page 63



M
ap

 2
2 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

18
 

23
 

Page 64



M
ap

 2
3 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

19
 

22
 

28
 

24
 

Page 65



M
ap

 2
4 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

20
 

23
 

29
 

25
 

Page 66



M
ap

 2
5 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

21
 

24
 

26
 

27
 

Page 67



M
ap

 2
6 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

21
 

25
 

27
 

Page 68



M
ap

 2
7 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

26
 

25
 

Page 69



M
ap

 2
8 

Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

23
 

31
 

29
 

Page 70



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 2
9 

24
 

28
 

32
 

Page 71



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 3
0 

31
 

Page 72



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 3
1 

28
 

30
 

34
 

32
 

Page 73



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 3
2 

29
 

31
 

35
 

33
 

Page 74



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 3
3 

32
 

35
 

Page 75



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 3
4 

31
 

38
 

35
 

Page 76



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 3
5 

32
 

34
 

38
 

33
 

Page 77



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 3
6 

37
 

Page 78



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 3
7 

36
 

38
 

39
 

Page 79



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 3
8 

34
 

35
 

37
 

39
 

Page 80



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 3
9 

38
 

37
 

42
 

40
 

Page 81



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 4
0 

39
 

Page 82



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 4
1 

43
 

42
 

Page 83



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 4
2 

39
 

41
 

44
 

Page 84



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 4
3 

41
 

45
 

44
 

Page 85



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 4
4 

42
 

43
 

45
 

Page 86



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 4
5 

43
 

44
 

46
 

Page 87



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 4
6 

45
 

Page 88



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 4
7 

Page 89



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 4
8 

49
 

Page 90



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 4
9 

48
 

Page 91



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 5
0 

Page 92



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 5
1 

Page 93



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 5
2 

Page 94



Sc
al

e 
1:

25
00

 

M
ap

 5
3 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Date:

12-Oct-22

CONSIDERATIONS                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
See guidance below on determining whether negative or 
positive impacts are High, Medium or Low

IMPACT?                 
Use drop down list                                           

GUIDANCE IF 
NEGATIVE/NIL                       
RATING HAS BEEN 
AWARDED

SUMMARISE HOW YOU PLAN TO MANAGE 
AND REDUCE ANY NEGATIVE IMPACTS

1 ENERGY USE

* More energy will be consumed or emissions generated (by RBC or 
others) = Negative Impact                                                                                                                                      
* No extra energy use is involved or any additional energy use will be 
met from renewable sources = Nil Impact                                                                                                            
* Energy use will be reduced or renewable energy sources will 
replace existing fossil fuel energy = Positive Impact

Medium Positive
Consider:                                                       
▫ Energy efficiency measures                                        
▫ Renewable energy                                    
▫ Reducing demand for energy

2 WASTE GENERATION 

* More waste will be generated (by RBC or others) = Negative Impact                                                                                                                
* No waste will be generated = Nil Impact                                                                                                                            
* Less waste will be generated OR amount of waste that is reused/ 
recycled will be increased = Positive Impact

Medium Positive
Consider:                                                       
▫ Re-usable/recycled goods                                           
▫ Recycling facilities                                  
▫ Reducing/reusing resources 

3 USE OF TRANSPORT

* RBC or others will need to travel more OR transport goods/people 
more often/further = Negative Impact                                                                                                                   
* No extra transport will be necessary = Nil Impact                                                                                                                      
* The need to travel, the use of transport and/or of fossil fuel-based 
transport will be reduced = Positive Impact 

Low Positive

Consider:                                                       
▫ Use of public transport                                    
▫ Reducing need to travel or 
transport goods                                
▫ Alternative fuels/electric 
vehicles/walking and cycling

CONSIDERATIONS                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
See guidance below on determining whether negative or 
positive impacts are High, Medium or Low

IMPACT?                 
Use drop down list

GUIDANCE IF 
NEGATIVE/NIL                       
RATING HAS BEEN 
AWARDED

SUMMARISE HOW YOU PLAN TO MANAGE 
AND REDUCE ANY NEGATIVE IMPACTS

4 HEATWAVES

* Increased exposure of vulnerabe people and/or infrastructure to 
heat stress = Negative Impact                                                                                                     
* No increase in exposure to heat stress = Nil Impact                         
* Reduced exposure of vulnerable people and/or infrastructure to 
heat stress = Positive Impact

Low Positive
Greater need for cooling, 
ventilation, shading and 
hydration methods

5 DROUGHT

*  Water use will increase and/or no provision made for water 
management = Negative Impact                                                                                                     
* Levels of water use will not be changed = Nil Impact                                        
* Provision made for water management, water resources will be 
protected = Positive Impact

Medium Positive
Greater need for water 
management and perhaps 
reserve supplies

6 FLOODING

* Levels of surface water run-off will increase, no management of 
flood risk = Negative Impact                                                                                                     
* Levels of surface water run-off & flood risk are not affected = Nil 
Impact                                                                                                              
* Sustainable drainage measures incorporated, positive steps to 
reduce & manage flood risk = Positive Impact

Nil
Consider flood defence 
mechanisms or alternative 
arrangements (business 
continuity)

Flood risk can be considered as one of the conditions 
of prior approval in any case, so the direction will not 
affect this matter.  Flood risk will be considered in line 
with adopted policies in the Local Plan which seek to 
avoid worsening risk of flooding and danger to life and 
property.

7 HIGH WINDS / STORMS

* Exposure to higher wind speeds is increased or is not managed = 
Negative Impact                                                                                                                    
* No change to existing level of exposure to higher wind speeds = Nil 
Impact                                                                                                              
* Exposure to higher wind speeds is being actively managed & 
reduced = Positive Impact

Low Positive
Greater need for stabilisation 
measures, robust structures 
resilient to high winds

8 DISRUPTION TO SUPPLY 
CHAINS

* Exposure to supply chain disruption for key goods and services is 
increased = Negative Impact                                                                                                                    
* No change in exposure to supply chain disruption for key goods and 
services = Nil Impact                                                                                                                   
* Exposure to supply chain disruption for key goods and services is 
reduced = Positive Impact

Low Positive
Source key goods and services 
locally as it reduces exposure to 
supply chain disruption and 
boosts the local economy

Net Medium Positive

Guidance on Assessing the Degree of Negative and Positive Impacts:

Medium Impact (M)

Confirmation of Article 4 direction to remove permitted development rights that 
would result in residential development

Project / Proposal Name or Reference:

Mark Worringham

Your Name:

* No impact on service or corporate performance

HOW WILL THIS 
PROJECT/PROPOSAL AFFECT 
THE ABILITY OF READING TO 
WITHSTAND:

1. IMPACT ON CARBON EMISSIONS

2. IMPACT ON RESILIENCE TO THE EFFECTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE

HOW WILL THIS 
PROJECT/PROPOSAL AFFECT:

Low Impact (L)
Note: Not all of the considerations/ criteria listed below will necessarily be relevant to your project

* Relevant risks to the Council or community are Low or none
* No publicity 

Weighing up the negative and positive impacts of your project, 
what is the overall rating you are assigning to your project?:

This overall rating is what you need to include in your report/ 
budget proposal, together with your explanation given below.

In the box below please summarise any relevant policy 
context, explain how the overall rating has been derived, 
highlight significant impacts (positive and negative) and 
explain actions being taken to mitigate negatives and increase 
positives. This text can be replicated in the 'Environment and 
Climate Impacts' section of your Committee Report, though 

High Impact (H)

The introduction of article 4 restricting the use of permitted 
development rights will lead to a greater adherence to local 
planning policy.  This is likely to lead to a reduction in 
environmental impacts across the majority of categories. 
Overall the impact is considered to be 'medium positive'. 

* Relates to major capital assets (larger buildings and infrastructure projects)

* Affects service performance (e.g.: energy use; waste generation, transport use) by more 
than c.10%

* Relates to medium-sized capital assets (individual buildings or small projects)

* Affects delivery of corporate commitments
* Relevant risks to the Council or community are Medium  

* Affects corporate performance (e.g.: energy; waste; transport use) by more than c.10%

* Affects delivery of regulatory commitments

* Relevant risks to the Council or community are Significant or High         

* National publicity (good or bad)  

* No impact on capital assets; or relates to minor capital assets (minor works)
* Local publicity (good or bad)

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

 
 

  
TO: POLICY COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: 31 OCTOBER 2022 

 
  

TITLE: DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION STRATEGY – DELIVERY UPDATE 
 

LEAD 
COUNCILLOR: 
 

CLLR TERRY PORTFOLIO:  CORPORATE & CONSUMER 
SERVICES 

SERVICE: DIGITAL & ICT 
 

WARDS: BOROUGHWIDE 

LEAD OFFICER: MARTIN CHALMERS 
 

TEL: 07970 963741 

JOB TITLE: CHIEF DIGITAL AND 
INFORMATION 
OFFICER 

E-MAIL: martin.chalmers@reading.gov.uk 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on work to realise the Connected Reading 

Digital Transformation Strategy that was agreed by Policy Committee in July 
2021.  It sets out the progress made since the last report in January 2022 and 
seeks endorsement of the next steps planned.  Certain information is 
commercially sensitive, and is provided in a part 2 Appendix. 
 

1.2 The primary focus has been on the procurement of the Casework and Customer 
Platform, which will replace the end-of-life Civica APP casework system and 
provide an end-to-end Customer Relationship Management system in support 
of the Achieving Customer Service Excellence strategy.  Arcus Global has been 
selected as the provider.  Contract finalisation and mobilisation planning is 
now underway for a target go-live by the end of 2023.  The cost of the project 
over the current Medium Term Financial Plan period will be less than 
conservatively estimated in the January 2022 report – and it enables 
confirmed recurring cashable benefit. 
 

1.3 Progress has also been made on the Independent Living, Mosaic Data and 
Digital Inclusion workstreams supporting Adult Social Care transformation and 
described in the January 2022 report.  In addition: 
 
• A programme of significant improvement to our online service delivery and 

website improvement has been running since January 2022. 
• A project to move internal information to Microsoft SharePoint (the 

document management system included in Office 365) is reaching the end 
of its first stage. 

 
1.4 Further projects to implement aspects of the strategy (subject to individual 

project approvals) are in the definition stage.  Some of these will be funded 
from the budgets cited when the Digital Transformation Strategy was 
approved.  Others are the subject of additional funding bids that are being 
considered through the current budget setting process. 

Page 99

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
1.5 However, the current capacity of the teams delivering digital projects 

presents a risk to progress and delivery of the planned savings and 
improvements.  Where good progress has been made, there has been reliance 
on agency staff and TPXImpact (formerly FutureGov), who advised on the 
original Strategy.  However, we are at the end of the contract period for 
TPXImpact, and agency staffing poses continuity and other risks. 
 

1.6 The use of external professional support has been found to be valuable as it 
allows capacity to be quickly changed and scarce skills to be resourced easily 
for short periods.  Therefore, it is proposed that we should enter a framework 
agreement with a digital transformation partner to allow us to call off delivery 
capability when needed. 
 

1.7 To maximise value for money and minimise risk, it is proposed that the 
framework would allow individual work packages to be agreed; each package 
having an approved business case.  Importantly, there would be no 
commitment to a total contract value.  For procurement purposes it is 
necessary to define a maximum value that the total of the work packages let 
cannot exceed. 
 

1.8 It is important to note that no additional funding is being requested for this 
proposal which is essential to deliver the previously agreed improvements as 
well as agreed and future budget savings. 

 
2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
That Policy Committee: 
 
2.1 Notes the progress made to date; 
 
2.2 Endorses continuation of the current workstreams; 
 
2.3 Grants delegated authority to the Executive Director of Resources, in 

consultation with the Lead Member for Corporate and Consumer Services 
and the Chief Digital & Information Officer, to award a framework contract 
for a Digital Transformation Partner, with the maximum contract value set 
out at paragraph 4.2.6 of the report, noting that each work package called 
off would be subject to individual approval to confirm affordability and 
value for money. 

 
2.4 Notes that a further update on progress on implementation of the Digital 

Transformation Strategy will be presented in Q1 23/24. 
 
 
3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
3.1 The Connected Reading Digital Transformation Strategy was approved in July 

2021.  It set out a vision, connected to the Council’s strategic aims, that: 
 

 Strong, connected relationships with residents, businesses and 
partners underpin a healthy, thriving and inclusive borough. 

Page 100



 

 

 
This vision was underpinned by five strategic themes: 
 

• Developing Foundations 
• Connecting Communities 
• Sharing Information 
• Improving Skills 
• Enabling Investment 

 
3.2 The programme is also a major enabler of the Achieving Customer Service 

Excellence Customer Experience Strategy, which was approved by the Policy 
Committee in January 2020, whose business case articulated a strong 
dependency on technology and included a […] capital budget for technology 
and business change.  This is particularly relevant to the Casework and 
Customer Platform workstream covered at 4.1.1 below. 

 
3.3 A progress report on strategy implementation was provided to the Policy 

Committee in January 2022.  Section 4 below covers the four workstreams 
discussed in that report: 

 
• Casework and Customer Platform 
• Mosaic Data 
• Independent Living 
• Digital Inclusion 

 
3.4 It also covers the following two streams of work initiated since: 
 

• Web Services Development 
• SharePoint Implementation 

 
 

4. THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 Workstream progress reports 
 

 It is proposed that progress be noted and continuation of in-flight projects be 
endorsed. 

 
4.1.1 Casework and Customer Platform (Strategy themes: Developing Foundations, 

Sharing Information, Connecting Communities) 
 
 As reported in January 2022, this workstream brings together two 

requirements from the original workplan.  The first requirement is to replace 
Civica APP, an end-of-life casework application used by around fifty functions 
within the planning and regulatory field, thereby enabling efficiencies built 
into the Medium-Term Financial Plan.  The second element of this workstream 
is focused on providing the end-to-end Customer Relationship Management 
(CRM) capability that underpins a significant proportion of benefits budgeted 
to be delivered by the Customer Experience programme. 

 
As agreed, a multi-lot procurement has been run covering these two 
requirements and the resulting contract has been awarded to Arcus Global, 

Page 101



 

 

which is offering a single solution for the two lots.  The solution provides the 
widely used Salesforce CRM platform, on to which Arcus Global has built “out 
of the box” forms and processes for a number of local government functions 
including Planning and Regulatory Services.  The contract is expected to be 
signed by the end of October 2022 with go-live around 12 months from then, 
with the two requirements being addressed by parallel streams of work. The 
cost of the solution is well within the limit estimated in the January 2022 
paper. 

 
 
4.1.2 Mosaic Data (Strategy theme: Sharing Information) 
 
 The recommendations from the study into the financial management 

information issues surrounding Mosaic presented in the January 2022 report 
have been implemented.  Alongside improvements in change control processes 
and the technical implementation of Mosaic, the most significant development 
has been of a social care finance dashboard which is providing the 
commissioning team with automated, on-demand and up-to-date financial 
analysis. (Such analysis previously required time-consuming and resource 
intensive effort). That analysis is being used to support decision-making that 
maximises value for money. 

 
 As well as generating immediate benefits, the project has stimulated and 

focused work on the improvement of business processes within Mosaic and 
established an exemplar for data analytics on which future projects will draw.  
This specific project has completed but further work to enhance Mosaic, 
founded on the lessons learned from this project, is being scoped.  This work 
is likely to be extensive, but will provide significant benefits to the service 
and residents. 

 
 
4.1.3 Independent Living (Strategy themes: Connecting Communities, Sharing 

Information, Enabling Investment) 
 
 This workstream is piloting the use of digital in its broadest sense to enable 

vulnerable and elderly people to live as independently as is right for them for 
as long as possible, building on successes already achieved through the 
implementation of “first generation” technology-enabled care such as fall 
detectors. Its primary focus is on intelligent pattern-of-life analysis via in-
home sensors that enables a shift to proactive care, eg detecting patterns of 
behaviour that indicate a fall is more likely, rather than simply detecting that 
a fall has occurred.  

 
 The potential benefits of this initiative lie primarily in cost avoidance through 

reducing the future demand for residential care and other high-cost services.  
Given the scale of those costs, the benefits could be highly significant.  The 
purpose of the pilot is robustly to test that benefits potential by comparing 
outcomes between test and control groups across a 6-12 month period. 

 
 Two suppliers – Intelligent Lilli and Howz – have been selected to pilot 

solutions.  The projects have mobilised and are currently identifying and 

Page 102



 

 

gaining consent from around 50 service users across a range of test cohorts 
including: 

 
• Frail in sheltered housing 
• Those on discharge/reablement pathway (where some equipment 

installation has taken place) 
• Young adults with learning disabilities in transition 
• Individuals with mental health issues 

 
4.1.4 Digital Inclusion (Strategy themes: Connecting Communities, Improving Skills) 
 
 The following progress has been made on the areas for action identified in the 

January 2022 update: 
 

• A proof-of-concept public WiFi solution is currently being implemented at 
the Pinecroft children’s residential unit and the Cressingham children’s 
short-break service. 

• A contract has been placed with a provider which can sanitise Council 
equipment which is no longer needed, so that it can be donated. 

• Broadband links ‒ which are being provided at no charge by Virgin Media 
as part of their social value commitments ‒ are being implemented at 
Coley Park and Hexham Road (Whitley) Community Centres, where pre-
installation site surveys have now completed, and options for additional 
sites are being explored. We are planning the use of volunteer effort from 
suppliers to help with community awareness and skills around the launch 
of these connections. 

 
4.1.5 Web Services Development Programme (Strategy Themes: Developing 

Foundations, Sharing Information, Connecting communities) 
 
 This programme of work has been focused on the highest priority 

improvements to the Council’s website, implementing the commitment in the 
Connected Reading strategy to optimise Customer Fulfilment processes.  It has 
delivered the following: 

 
• Automation of missed bin service and provision of online bin ordering, 

eliminating around 750 customer service team transactions per month 
• Online ordering of bulky waste collection, introduced in tandem with the 

free collection policy 
• Improvements to parking services payments and online guidance 
• Improvements to search, navigability and accessibility (especially on 

mobile devices), including compliance with Government Digital Service 
standards across the home page, top three levels of menus, Council Tax 
services and housing portal. Our accessibility rating (against the relevant 
international standard) has increased from 86% to 97% and there has been 
a substantive drop in telephone enquiries relating to Council Tax. 

• Move to a single change-of-address notification across all services (eg 
parking permits, licensing, adult social care, electoral roll. 

 
The next planned areas of focus are: 
 

Page 103



 

 

• Webchat for Customer Fulfilment Centre 
• Digitising the process of applying for traffic network licences and permits 
• Single sign-on across web services so that users need only one username 

and password to access all Council digital services 
• Information, advice and guidance, and an online “wall of shame” to deter 

and detect flytippers. 
 
4.1.6 SharePoint Implementation (Strategy Themes: Developing Foundations, 

Sharing Information) 
 
 An integrated element of the Microsoft 365 office suite in which the Council 

has invested is SharePoint, Microsoft’s document management solution.  It 
allows information to be shared both internally and externally in a 
straightforward but also highly controllable manner.  The full adoption of 
SharePoint to replace other ways of sharing information (eg shared folders) 
will allow staff to collaborate more easily (eg by working jointly on a single 
version of a document), increasing staff efficiency, make it easier to enforce 
governance requirements such as data retention policies.  It will also reduce 
our hosting requirements, saving money and lowering energy consumption.  
Savings have been outlined in the latest MTFS proposal.  

 
The first stage of the project will complete this quarter.  This has involved 
the cleansing, review and migration of around 20 terabytes of files from 
shared folders into a new SharePoint structure with clear information 
governance arrangements, and provision of staff training.  The next areas of 
focus for the project will be on the migration of information from personal 
folders, to enable further hosting cost savings, and on further training and 
communications to embed the capability. 
 

4.2 Proposal for a Digital Delivery Partner (Option 1) 
 
4.2.1 Further projects to implement aspects of the Strategy (subject to individual 

project approvals) are in the definition or preliminary exploration stage. 
Examples include: 
 
• Adult social care digital front door, supporting social prescribing and 

greater integration with the voluntary and community sector 
• Robotic process automation – continuing the automation of the movement 

of information and routine processing, already begun in the Revenues and 
Benefits team (but not replacing human judgement in decision making) 

• Automation of business processes related to the management of Street 
Scene work, building on the work already done in Waste 

• Housing and Communities digital presence (web, chat/chatbot, community 
centre kiosks and social media) to drive self-help (eg around employment) 
and self-service, and to share knowledge with landlords, housing 
associations, voluntary sector and businesses 

• Rationalisation of our line of business systems, to remove duplication (eg 
where tasks done by dedicated legacy applications could be moved into 
the Casework and Customer Platform), streamline processes and reduce 
maintenance costs. 

 

Page 104



 

 

4.2.2 Strategic proposals for such projects are being scrutinised through the budget 
preparation and Transformation & Efficiency processes.  Some projects would 
be funded by the budgets already earmarked for digital transformation.  
Others are the subject of separate bids from the Directorates concerned. 

 
 4.2.3 It is already clear that, as was anticipated in the original Connected Reading 

strategy, further development of our digital delivery capability ‒ project and 
programme management, business analysis and change, digital service design 
and development ‒ will be required to support current and planned delivery.  
There are 13 permanent roles in these disciplines currently.  Analysis of the 
project pipeline suggests a consistent demand of the order of 25 for such roles 
and a potential peak requirement of up to 45. 

 
4.2.4 While the existing team has been supplemented by agency, interim and 

consultant staff to maintain delivery, team capacity has been a constraint on 
progress. The optimum balance between permanent staff and external staff 
is being considered as part of budget discussions but it is already clear that a 
level of external support will be needed.   

 
4.2.5 It is therefore proposed that a contract with a digital delivery partner is put 

in place for a 2-year period, with two optional 1-year extensions (Option 1).  
Over that period, it is to be expected that there will be changes in 
requirements and priorities, as the organisation learns from the experience of 
delivery, its understanding of resident and business needs develops and digital 
technology evolves.  It is also a period of economic uncertainty.  It is therefore 
proposed that the contract should be let as a framework, under which 
individual projects would be contracted as call-off orders. 

 
4.2.6 Each project would be subject to a business case and scrutinised to ensure 

value for money and affordability within budget allocated.  Importantly, 
beyond the first work package selected (likely to be an application 
rationalisation analysis), there would be no guarantee of future work or of a 
specific contract value.  The maximum contract value will be affordable 
within existing funds and will not be exceeded.  It is to be emphasised that 
the setting of that maximum value does not represent a commitment to that 
spend: each item of spend would be subject to appropriate business 
justification and approval. 

 
4.2.7 The partner would also be required to support the development of new joiners 

to the team, transferring skills and knowledge.  This will enable us to include 
staff on the team at an early stage in their careers and support their 
development presenting an attractive offer to such joiners. 

 
4.3 Alternative options considered 
 
4.3.1 Do nothing (Option 0) 
 
 In this option, the team would be maintained at its current size but, because 

of the end date of our contract with TPXImpact (formerly FutureGov, who 
were our advisers on the Digital Transformation Strategy), actual delivery 
capacity and momentum would reduce.  Because of the need to focus effort 

Page 105



 

 

on the Casework and Customer Platform implementation, delivery of other 
aspects of the Strategy would stall. 

 
4.3.2 Grow internal team with no external support (Option 2) 
 
 In this option, the internal team would be increased to a level optimum for 

meeting the need for digital project delivery while remaining fully utilised.  .  
However, without external support, the delay in recruitment of staff and 
ability to recruit at the right level would cause further delays in the delivery 
of benefits and a loss of momentum, as would the inability to “surge” capacity 
when required.  We would not be able to draw on the external partner for 
training and development of the incoming staff, reducing the effectiveness of 
the team and the attractiveness of job opportunities. 

 
4.3.3 Resource projects individually (Option 3) 
 In this option, external resources (eg agency staff) would be sourced for 

individual projects as required.  However, this would add delay to each 
project and risks a loss of cohesion and corporate knowledge across the team. 

 
4.4 Recommendation 
 
4.4.1 It is recommended that Option 1 be adopted, and that authority be delegated 

to the Executive Director of Resources to appoint a digital delivery partner, 
on a framework basis, with clear scrutiny measures to ensure the value for 
money and affordability of call-off orders placed under the agreement. 

  
 

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 The Connected Reading Digital Strategy has been designed to support all three 

objectives of the Corporate Plan.  In particular, the current workstreams 
described at 4.1 above make the following contributions: 

 
• Casework and Customer Platform and Web Service Development 

Programme are contributing to the Thriving Communities and Inclusive 
Economy objectives by easing access to relevant council services. 

• Independent Living will contribute to Healthy Environment and Thriving 
Communities by improving the quality of life and care for the elderly and 
vulnerable, while contributing to Inclusive Growth by stimulating 
technology investment in this sector. 

• Digital Inclusion will contribute to Inclusive Growth (eg through provision 
of digital access in support of building employability skills) and Thriving 
Communities (through a focus on community facilities). 

• SharePoint Implementation is contributing to all strategic aims by making 
Council staff better able to collaborate and share information between 
teams and with external delivery partners. 

 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no specific environmental or climate implications from this work, 

but the potential for work on the rationalisation of business applications to 

Page 106



 

 

eliminate unnecessary use of computing power and hence carbon should be 
noted. 

 
 
7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 
 
7.1 Community engagement will be central to the implementation of the Strategy.  

In particular: 
 

• Wherever new services that affect residents or communities are being 
implemented, we will continue to consult residents through such 
mechanisms as interviews, focus groups or engagement in prototyping 
exercises.  Such engagement has already been of material value in the 
Casework and Customer Platform workstream. 

• In concert with other Council initiatives related to digital inclusion, we 
shall be continuing to engage with community organisations to ensure that 
we are both optimising the work we do on digital inclusion and also taking 
the risk of digital exclusion into account in the design of digital services. 

 
8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 There are no specific equality impacts arising from this decision.  However, 

accessibility will be a design criterion for any digital services (eg compliance 
with the internationally accepted Web Content Accessibility Guidelines). 

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The contract for the Digital Delivery Partner will be let under an appropriate 

government framework.  The most likely framework is the Crown Commercial 
Services Digital Specialists and Programmes framework (RM6263).  A soft 
market test carried out in August suggested that there would be sufficient 
interest from suppliers on this framework to ensure a healthy competition.  

 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
  See appendix 
 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 None  
 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 109

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Confirmation of Article 4 Direction to Remove Permitted Development Rights That Would Result in Residential Development
	APPENDIX 1: EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
	APPENDIX 2: SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED AND PROPOSED RESPONSE
	Appendix 3 Draft Article 4 Direction
	Climate Impact Assessment (CIA) Tool - Article 4 Direction
	2. Climate Impact Assessment


	7 Digital Transformation Strategy - Delivery Update
	Digital Transformation Strategy Appendix


